Centro de Investigación Científica y de Educación Superior de Ensenada, Baja California



Doctorado en Ciencias en Ecología Marina

Importance of Ojo de Liebre lagoon and Vizcaino Bay in the early life stages of white sharks: ecological and fishery issues

Tesis para cubrir parcialmente los requisitos necesarios para obtener el grado de Doctor en Ciencias

Presenta:

Emiliano García Rodríguez

Ensenada, Baja California, México 2020

Tesis defendida por Emiliano García Rodríguez

y aprobada por el siguiente Comité

Dr. Oscar Sosa Nishizaki Director de tesis

Miembros del comité

Dra. Sharon Zinah Herzka Llona

Dr. Christopher G. Lowe

Dr. Carlos Álvarez Flores



Dr. Jorge Adrián Rosales Casián Coordinador del Posgrado en Ecología Marina

> **Dra. Rufina Hernández Martínez** Directora de Estudios de Posgrado

Emiliano García Rodríguez © 2020 Queda prohibida la reproducción parcial o total de esta obra sin el permiso formal y explícito del autor y director de la tesis. Resumen de la tesis que presenta **Emiliano García Rodríguez** como requisito parcial para la obtención del grado de Doctor en Ciencias en Ecología Marina

Importancia de la laguna Ojo de Liebre y de Bahía Sebastián Vizcaíno en los primeros estadios de vida del tiburón blanco: aspectos ecológicos y pesqueros

Resumen aprobado por:

Dr. Oscar Sosa Nishizaki Director de tesis

Bahía Sebastián Vizcaíno (incluyendo la laguna Ojo de Liebre, LOL), está localizada en la costa oeste de la península de Baja California, y es un área de crianza para tiburones blancos inmaduros (TBI, Carcharodon carcharias) en el Noroeste mexicano. La utilizan comunidades pesqueras que interactúan con los TBI durante sus operaciones de pesca. Esta tesis exploró el rol ecológico de los TBI en la bahía y su interacción con las pesquerías artesanales utilizando diferentes metodologías. Se aplicaron 77 entrevistas a pescadores de la Bahía para describir sus actividades de pesca. De acuerdo a sus respuestas, las especies objetivo de la pesca (lenguado, curvina blanca y guitarra blanca) son presas potenciales de los TBI. Los TBI (<200 cm longitud total) se capturan mayormente en verano y las áreas de mayor interacción se encuentran en hábitats costeros cercanos a la boca de la LOL. Se utilizó telemetría acústica pasiva para entender cómo estos tiburones utilizan la LOL. Se detectaron 17 TBI (marcados localmente y en California, EU) en 11 receptores colocados dentro y fuera de la laguna; registrando un mayor número de tiburones en meses con capturas incidentales bajas. Empleando Modelos Generalizados Aditivos, se analizó el efecto de factores biológicos y ambientales en la presencia de los TBI. El mes (meses de otoño e invierno) y el lugar de marcaje (California) fueron las variables que mejor explican la presencia de TBI fuera de la laguna. La presencia dentro de la laguna se explica por el mes (invierno e inicio de la primavera) y la talla (tiburones >175 cm). Utilizando análisis de isótopos estables (SIA) de Carbono y Nitrógeno, en músculo de los TBI, se estimó una mayor contribución de presas demersales (44-48%), que son especies objetivo para los pescadores locales, en comparación con presas pelágicas (25-37%) y oceánicas (15-31%). También se compararon las dietas de especies simpátricas de tiburones que se alimentan en la Bahía usando los SIA. Se estimó un traslapo (45.27%) en el nicho isotópico entre TBI y tiburones martillo de tallas similares, sugiriendo que ambas especies se alimentan de presas parecidas o con composiciones isotópicas similares. Esta tesis confirma la importancia de la LOL y las áreas cercanas a su boca como área de crianza, donde se presentan individuos diferentes durante todo el año y donde encuentran una alta disponibilidad de presas. Las capturas incidentales son más frecuentes durante los meses con menos tiburones detectados, sugiriendo un traslapo temporal menor al pensado. Sin embargo, el traslapo espacial con las pesquerías artesanales parece ser alto y existe una competencia por las presas de los tiburones. De acuerdo al traslapo en dietas estimado, si las poblaciones de presas disminuyen por efecto de sobrepesca, la competencia entre especies simpátricas puede aumentar en el futuro, sumando una amenaza más para los TBI. Los resultados de esta tesis ayudarán a mejorar las medidas de manejo existentes para minimizar los impactos de las pesquerías artesanales sobre las poblaciones de TBI.

Palabras clave: tiburón blanco, pesquerías artesanales, áreas de crianza, Bahía Sebastián Vizcaíno

Abstract of the thesis presented **by Emiliano García Rodríguez** as a partial requirement to obtain the Doctor of Science degree in Marine Ecology

Importance of Ojo de Liebre lagoon and Vizcaino Bay in the early life stages of white sharks: ecological and fishery issues

Abstract approved by:

Dr. Oscar Sosa Nishizaki Thesis Director

Vizcaino Bay, including its associated coastal lagoon Ojo de Liebre, is located on the Pacific coast of the Baja California Peninsula and has been confirmed as a nursery area for immature white sharks (IWS, Carcharodon carcharias) in Northwestern Mexico. This bay hosts several artisanal fishery communities that interact with early life stages during their fishing operations. This dissertation gave insights into the ecological role of IWS and the degree of interaction with artisanal fisheries in this nursery using several approaches. Semi-structured interviews were applied to 77 fishers along the Bay coast and helped to describe artisanal fishing activities. The main target species in the area (shovelnose guitarfish, white seabass, and California halibut) are potential prey of IWS based on fisher responses. Immature white sharks (<200 cm total length) are mostly caught during summer, and higher interaction areas are located in nearshore habitats close to the Ojo de Liebre lagoon's mouth. Passive acoustic monitoring was used to study how IWS are using the Ojo de Liebre lagoon. An array of 11 receivers was deployed inside and outside the lagoon, and 17 sharks (tagged locally and in Southern California, US) were detected inside the array, with a higher number of sharks detected during months with lower incidental catches. General Additive Models were used to analyze the effect of biological and environmental factors on the presence of white sharks. Month (belonging to late fall and winter) and tagging location (southern California) were the variables that better-explained the presence of sharks outside the lagoon. The presence of IWS inside the lagoon is better-explained by month (winter and early spring) and size (sharks larger than 175 cm). Carbon and nitrogen bulk stable isotope analyses (SIA) revealed a higher contribution of demersal prey (44-48%) heavily targeted by local fisheries to IWS isotopic values from muscle tissue, compared to offshore (15-31%) and pelagic (25-37%) prey. SIA was also used to compare diet differences among sympatric shark species that feed in the bay. A partial overlap in the isotopic niche of IWS with hammerhead sharks (45.27%) of similar sizes was found. These results suggest that both species could be feeding on similar resources or prey with similar isotopic composition. This thesis confirms that Ojo de Liebre lagoon is an important nursery for IWS, where are individuals present year-round and found high food availability, mainly in areas near its inlet. Incidental catches are more frequent during months when fewer sharks were detected in the acoustic array, suggesting a smaller temporal overlap than previously thought. However, the spatial overlap seems to be higher, and competition for resources with local fisheries occur. Based on the diet overlap found in this study, if prey populations of IWS decrease due to local overfishing, competition among sympatric shark species could increase in the future, posing a new threat for this early life stage. Findings from this work could improve current management strategies to minimize local artisanal fisheries' impact on IWS populations.

Dedication

"Fish," he said softly, aloud, "I'll stay with you until I am dead." — Ernest Hemingway, The Old Man and the Sea

"They were scientists enough to admit that they were wrong." — Isaac Asimov, Foundation

Por los caídos y por los que siguen en pie.

Acknowledgements

A CONACYT por la beca otorgada (237075) para mis estudios de doctorado.

A CICESE y al Posgrado de Ecología Marina por permitirme realizar mis estudios de doctorado, así como por las becas otorgadas para terminar con este proceso.

Al Dr. Oscar Sosa por dirigirme durante todo el desarrollo de este trabajo y por ayudar a formarme como científico. Por siempre apoyarme en todo lo que necesité y brindarme todas las herramientas necesarias para realizar esta tesis. Muchas gracias Doc, por confiar en mí y aguantarme durante tantos años y, sobre todo, gracias por su amistad. Todavía queda mucho por delante.

A la Dra. Sharon Herzka por todas las contribuciones hechas a este trabajo y por la visión crítica que siempre me brindó y que terminó robusteciéndolo. Gracias por guiarme en un tema que era completamente nuevo para mí.

To Dr. Chris Lowe for all the support he gave me during this work. Thanks for all the comments that helped to improve this dissertation. Thanks for all the data that you provided which make this work possible.

Al Dr. Carlos Álvarez por el aporte realizado a este trabajo. Gracias por las discusiones y por hacerme pensar cómo llevar este trabajo más allá de sólo lo académico.

A la técnica del Laboratorio de Ecología Pesquera, la M. en C. Carmen Rodríguez por todo el apoyo logístico en mi trabajo de tesis. Muchas gracias Carmencita por todo el apoyo laboral y mental que nos das a todos.

A todos los miembros del Laboratorio de Ecología Pesquera (pasados y actuales). Son demasiados lo que he visto pasar como para nombrarlos a todos y seguramente olvidaría a alguno, pero les agradezco enormemente por toda la ayuda que me dieron, por todas las enseñanzas que me han dejado y por hacer la vida más disfrutable. Sin ustedes todo el trabajo de campo hubiera sido imposible.

To all the (past and current) members from the CSULB-Shark Lab for all the help over these years.

To the Monterey Bay Aquarium for funding a large part of this project, and specially to John O'Sullivan for all the support given to our laboratory during all these years.

A las otras instituciones que financiaron este proyecto: CONANP a través del programa PROCER y a la Alianza WWF-Fundación Carlos Slim (y a Pelagios Kakunjá, A.C. por la coordinación del proyecto)

A la Reserva de la Biósfera El Vizcaíno por todas las facilidades otorgadas para la realización de este trabajo.

A la Dra. Beatriz Cordero y Abelardo Campos del Departamento de Acuacultura y a Cesar Almeda del Departamento de Oceanografía Biológica por las facilidades y ayuda brindadas para el procesamiento de muestras en sus respectivos laboratorios.

A la Exportadora de Sal S.A. de C.V., y en especial a Fabián Castillo por el apoyo con los permisos requeridos para la realización de este estudio y por proveer las mediciones de temperatura utilizadas en este trabajo.

A todos los pescadores de Vizcaíno que me apoyaron en el trabajo de campo, especialmente a Edgar Zepeda (Pitufo) y Rodrigo Guzmán. Sin su ayuda nada en este trabajo hubiera sido posible.

A Julieta Castro y Elvia Serrano por el apoyo administrativo en los proyectos que permitieron realizar mi trabajo de tesis.

A mis amigos repartidos por todo el país y el mundo.

A mis padres, mi hermano y a Luz. Por estar siempre, por darme fuerzas para seguir y por soportarme.

Table of contents

Abstract in spanish	ii
Abstract in english	iii
Dedication	iv
Acknowledgements	v
Figures list	ix
Table list	xii

Chap	oter 1. General introduction	1
	1.1 Study area	4
	1.2 Research questions	5
	1.3 Objectives	6
	1.3.1 General objective	6
	1.3.2. Specific objectives	6

Chapter 2. Artisanal fishing activities and their documented interactions with juvenile white

sharks inside a nursery area	7
2.1 Introduction	7
2.2 Methods	9
2.3 Results	10
2.3.1 Fishers	10
2.3.2 Fishing operations, fishing gear, and target species	11
2.3.3 Fishing areas	15
2.3.4 White shark incidental catch information	15
2.4 Discussion	18

Chapter 3. The use of a coastal lagoon by juvenile white sharks (<i>Carcharodon carcharias</i>) as part of a nursery area in the Northeastern Pacific23	
3.2 Methods	25
3.2.1 Acoustic monitoring	25
3.2.2 Tagging of sharks	26

3.2.3 Environmental data	26
3.2.4 Data analysis	27
3.3 Results	27
3.4 Discussion	33

Chapter 4. Trophic relationships of white sharks in Vizcaino Bay	
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Methods	42
4.2.1 Sample collection	42
4.2.2 Sample preparation for bulk isotope and CSIA- AA analysis	43
4.2.3 Trophic relationships between white sharks and potential prey	44
4.2.4 Isotopic niche overlap with sympatric species	45
4.2.5 Estimation of trophic position	45
4.3 Results	46
4.4 Discussion	52

Chapter 6. Conclusions	Chapter 5. General discussion	58
	Chapter 6. Conclusions	63
References	References	65
Supplementary material	Supplementary material	31

Figures list

Figure	
1	Global distribution of the white shark. Modified from Huveneers et al., 2018
2	Location of Vizcaino Bay, Mexico and main fishing camps. Black dots represent main fishing camps in the region. Blue polygons represent the limits of the Natural Protected Areas
3	Fishing gear used in Vizcaino Bay by month. The period between May and July correspond with the yearly elasmobranch fishing ban
4	Major target species from artisanal fisheries in Vizcaino Bay
5	Areas of greater interaction between white sharks (WS) and fishing activities (FA) in Vizcaino Bay
6	Sizes of juvenile white sharks incidentally caught in fishing camps from Vizcaino Bay (BT: Bahía Tortugas, CM-ML: Campito-Malarrimo, LC: Las Casitas, LM: Laguna Manuela, SR: Santa Rosaliita)
7	Incidental catches of juvenile white sharks by month in Vizcaino Bay
8	Location of the acoustic array deployed in Vizcaino Bay. Black dots represent the location of each receiver. Red dots are the locations inside the lagoon from where temperatures were taken and the blue dot is the station that represent the temperature outside the lagoon
9	Time series of detections (blue circles) of immature white sharks in the Ojo de Liebre lagoon and its surrounding waters from 2013 to 2017. Black circles represent the date of tagging. * represent sharks tagged at California
10	The cumulative number of tagged white sharks detected in the Ojo de Liebre lagoon and its surrounding waters per month from 2013-2017
11	Mean residence index (RI) for juvenile white sharks detected inside and outside the Ojo de Liebre lagoon. The error bars represent the standard deviation in each month
12	Percentage of detections per receiver for immature white sharks in the Ojo de Liebre lagoon and its surrounding waters. Bubble size represent the proportion of overall detections for individuals detected on the array. "X" refers to the receivers location
	where no detections were recorded

13	Percentage of detections per receiver (black dots) and number of white sharks (red numbers) detected per acoustic receiver in the Ojo de Liebre lagoon and its surrounding waters	31
14	Average monthly surface temperatures inside and outside the Ojo de Liebre lagoon from November 2013 to November 2017	32
15	Areas of the Baja California peninsula where muscle samples were collected. BSV = Vizcaino Bay. OBSV = Outside Vizcaino Bay	43
16	Mean carbon and nitrogen stable isotope ratios (±SD) measured in the muscle tissues of immature white sharks sampled in Vizcaino Bay and the northern part of the Baja California peninsula. Isotopic values are reported as a function of life stage: newborn (<150 cm TL), young of the year (between 151-170 cm TL), and juveniles (<171 cm TL). TL, total length	47
17	Contribution of prey from different habitats to the isotopic composition of the muscle tissue of immature white sharks sampled along the western coast of the Baja California peninsula. YOY= young of the year, NB = newborn, JUV = juvenile white sharks	49
18	Standardized ellipse of isotopic niches of immature white sharks sampled along the western coast of the Baja California peninsula. NB = newborn, YOY = young of the year, JUV = juvenile collected within Vizcaino Bay, and OBSV = juveniles outside Vizcaino Bay	49
19	Mean carbon and nitrogen stable isotope ratios (\pm SD) measured in the muscle of immature white sharks, smooth hammerheads, dusky shark, and copper shark from Vizcaino Bay and the northern part of the Baja peninsula. NB-HMS = newborn hammerheads, SJ-HMS = small juvenile hammerheads, BJ-HMS = big juvenile hammerheads and CB = copper shark	50
20	Isotopic niches of different life stages of different size classes of immature white sharks, smooth hammerhead sharks and copper sharks sampled in Vizcaino Bay. NB = newborn white sharks, YOY = young of the year white sharks, JUV = juvenile white sharks, OBSV = juvenile white sharks outside Vizcaino Bay, NB-HMS = newborn hammerheads, SJ-HMS = small juvenile hammerheads, BJ-HMS = big juvenile hammerheads and CB = copper sharks	51
21	Use of gillnets in Vizcaino Bay by month and by fishing camp. BT: Bahía Tortugas, CM-ML: Campito-Malarrimo, LC: Las Casitas, LM: Laguna Manuela, SR: Santa Rosaliita	
	nosuntu	81

22	Use of longlines in Vizcaino Bay by month and by fishing camp. BT: Bahía Tortugas, CM-ML: Campito-Malarrimo, LC: Las Casitas, LM: Laguna Manuela, SR: Santa	
	Rosaliita	81
23	Use of traps in Vizcaino Bay by month and by fishing camp. BT: Bahía Tortugas, CM- ML: Campito-Malarrimo, LC: Las Casitas, LM: Laguna Manuela, SR: Santa Rosaliita	82
24	Target species from artisanal fisheries in the fishing camp of Bahia Tortugas	82
25	Target species from artisanal fisheries in the fishing camp of Campito-Malarrimo	83
26	Target species from artisanal fisheries in the fishing camp of Las Casitas	83
27	Target species from artisanal fisheries in the fishing camp of Laguna Manuela	84
28	Target species from artisanal fisheries in the fishing camp of Santa Rosaliita	84
29	Incidental catches of immature white sharks by month and by fishing camp in Vizcaino Bay. BT: Bahía Tortugas, CM-ML: Campito-Malarrimo, LC: Las Casitas, LM: Laguna Manuela, SR: Santa Rosaliita	85

Table list

Та	bl	e
----	----	---

Table		Page
1	Number of fishers interviewed by fishing camp in Vizcaino Bay	10
2	Demography of fishers interviewed in Vizcaino Bay	10
3	Target and incidental species caught by fishing gears in Vizcaino Bay (T = target species; I = incidental catch; BG = bottom gillnet; SG = set gillnets; SN = seine net; L = longline; TR = traps)	14
4	Acoustic receivers deployed in Vizcaino Bay	26
5	White sharks tagged and detected in Vizcaino Bay. Details include sex (F, female; M, male), life stage (NB, newborn; YOY, young of the year; JUV, juvenile), total length (TL), date of tagging (DT), date of the last detection (DLD), number of days detected (DD) and residence index (RI). * represents sharks tagged at California, USA. † represents mortality. – no data	29
6	Ranking of General Additive Models of total Residence Index of white sharks explained by biological variables. AIC, Akaike Information Criterion. Only the better five models are showed	33
7	Ranking of General Additive Mixed Models of residence index of white sharks inside and outside the Ojo de Liebre Lagoon explained by independent variables. Only the better six models are showed	33
8	Isotopic values for life stages of immature white sharks on Vizcaino Bay and the northern part of the Baja peninsula. OBSV: Outside Vizcaino Bay	46
9	Isotopic values of potential prey of immature white sharks used in mixing models. Values are means ± one standard deviation (SD). TL = Total length	48
10	Mean isotopic values for size classes of hammerheads and copper sharks on Vizcaino Bay	50
11	Trophic position (TP) for immature white sharks from Vizcaino Bay and the northern part of the Baja peninsula. The trophic enrichment factors (TEF) and trophic discrimination factors (TDF) values origin is indicated. SD= Standard deviation. ¹ Equation from Chikaraishi et al. (2009). ² Equation from Hoen et al. (2014). ³ Value from Chikaraishi et al. (2009). ⁴ Value from Hoen et al. (2014).	50

Chapter 1. General introduction

The white shark *Carcharodon carcharias* (WS) is a top predator distributed worldwide (Figure 1) in temperate and subtropical waters (Compagno, 2002; Ebert et al., 2013). White sharks are large predators that can measure up to 6 m (Castro, 2011). Recent studies have reported that white sharks live longer than previously thought, with ages of some adults estimated as older than 40 years and with a maximum registered age of 73 years (Hamady et al., 2014; Andrews & Kerr, 2015; Natanson & Skomal, 2015; Christiansen et al., 2016). Age and size of maturity differ between sexes, with females maturing between 450-500 cm total length (TL) at 12-15 years, while males mature between 360-380 at 8-10 years (Cailliet et al., 1985; Francis, 1996; Pratt, 1996; Wintner & Cliff, 1999; Malcolm et al., 2001; Tanaka et al., 2011). However, age at maturity estimations have been challenged by recent studies reporting that males and females mature at ages > 16 and 26 years, respectively (Christiansen et al., 2016; Natanson & Skomal, 2015). White sharks exhibit yolk-sac vivipary with oophagy and histotrophy as supplemental forms of matrotrophy, with a relatively low fecundity of between 2 to 14 pups (Compagno 2002, Sato et al. 2016). Due to their late maturity, low fecundity, extended longevity, and low population size, white sharks are considered vulnerable to anthropogenic activities (Ebert et al., 2013; Rigby et al., 2019).



Figure 1. Global distribution of the white shark. Modified from Huveneers et al., 2018.

Based on their size, white sharks can be classified to five life stages: newborn sharks (NB, between 120-150 cm TL), young of the year (YOY, between 151-175 cm TL), juveniles (JUV, between 176-300 cm TL), sub-adults (between 300 cm and maturity size) and adults (Cailliet et al., 1985; Francis, 1996; Pratt, 1996; Wintner & Cliff, 1999; Bruce & Bradford, 2012). While the early life stages (newborns, YOY and juveniles) are distributed in productive coastal waters, including inside estuaries and lagoons (Harasti et al., 2017; Curtis et al., 2018; Bruce et al., 2019), adults aggregate at different ocean regions, including the waters of Australia, New Zealand, the Mediterranean Sea, South Africa, the northwestern Atlantic, and in the Northeastern Pacific (Klimley et al., 1992; Domeier & Nasby-Lucas, 2007; Bruce & Bradford, 2012; Francis et al., 2015; Boldrocchi et al., 2017; Skomal et al., 2017; Moro et al., 2019). The movements and ecology of adults are relatively well understood, but information about early life stages is still scarce (Huveneers et al., 2018). It is unclear as to how white sharks use different habitats throughout their ontogeny. Moreover, the study of how changes in diet, prey availability, environmental conditions and predation influence habitat use, space use and migration patterns have been proposed as research priorities for the species, and are considered essential for quantifying the current threats (Huveneers et al., 2018). Understanding these topics will help understand the role of white sharks' ecosystems and define proper management and conservation strategies.

Genetic analyses have shown that white sharks from the Northeastern Pacific (NEP) are a distinct population separated from the South Africa and Australia/New Zealand populations (Jorgensen et al., 2010). In the NEP, adult white shark aggregate near seal colonies of Farallon and Año Nuevo islands in Central California, USA, and near Guadalupe island in Mexico. It has been reported a limited connectivity between these two regions (Jorgensen et al., 2012). After aggregation near these islands, adults move to a shared offshore area off Hawaiian waters, and then migrate back to their original aggregation sites (Boustany et al., 2002; Domeier & Nasby-Lucas, 2007; 2008; Weng et al., 2007; Jorgensen et al., 2010; 2012). Domeier (2012) proposed that Guadalupe island serves as a mating area and that pregnant females move to offshore area during the gestation phase. After been in this offshore area, they migrate to parturition areas in the coastal waters off the Baja California Peninsula and the Gulf of California

Early life stages of the white shark are distributed in coastal waters from Point Conception in California to the Baja California Peninsula, and within the Gulf of California (Dewar et al., 2004; Weng et al., 2007; 2012; White et al., 2019). Immature white sharks use coastal areas as nurseries, where they spent the first years of their life and interact with coastal fisheries (Galván-Magaña et al., 2010; Cartamil et al., 2011; Lowe et al., 2012; Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Lyons et al., 2013; Ramírez-Amaro et al., 2013; Oñate-González et al., 2017). Vizcaino Bay (BSV) has been confirmed as one of these nursery areas for white sharks based on

the analysis of incidental catches of neonates, YOY and older juveniles by the local artisanal fishery (Oñate-González et al., 2017). As a nursery area for white sharks, BSV is used by those born there, as well as immature white sharks that migrate south from the Southern California Bight (Weng et al., 2007; 2012; Oñate-González et al., 2015; White et al., 2019).

Although it is illegal to target and catch white sharks in both US and Mexican waters (DOF 2007; 2010; 2014), immature white sharks are caught incidentally in both California and Mexico, and they have a lower probability of survival when captured in Mexican waters (Benson et al., 2018). Specifically, artisanal fishers from BSV catch them incidentally throughout the bay and within Ojo de Liebre lagoon (OLL; Cartamil et al., 2011; Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Oñate-González et al., 2017). Deficiencies in Mexican fisheries statistics due to a poor reporting system and data collection process inhibit the assessment of the degree and location of white shark-fishery interactions. Besides, this lack of official statistics prevents the evaluation of the post-release survival for those sharks that are being released by local fishers to comply with existing regulations forbidding their catch. The assessment of where these interactions occur, their magnitude, and how white sharks use BSV is needed to define proper temporal and spatial management actions to increases juvenile survival (one of the most critical elements for population growth) and to ensure their recruitment to adulthood (Mollet & Calliet, 2002).

Immature white sharks feed mostly on demersal fishes and small elasmobranchs (Tricas & McCosker, 1984; Santana-Morales et al., 2012). Moreover, as their size increases, sub-adults and adult white sharks shift their diet to feed on squid, larg- sized pelagic fishes and eventually marine mammals (Carlisle et al., 2012; Jaime-Rivera et al., 2014; Malpica-Cruz et al., 2013). Understanding the role of BSV foraging habitat for young white sharks, as well as the trophic relationships with specific prey groups that may also be subject to fisheries exploitation are essential for their management and conservation.

In this thesis, I analyzed the interactions of immature white shark with BSV local fisheries, and characterize the main locations where this interaction occurs. Since immature white sharks are caught in fisheries that target their potential prey, I am also investigating the feeding ecology and habitat use in this nursery area. The results will help to better understand the ecological importance of Vizcaino Bay and the Ojo de Liebre lagoon for immature white sharks, including those born locally and those migrating from Southern California.

1.1 Study area

Vizcaino Bay (Figure 2) is a bay located in the southern portion of the California Current System, between Punta Canoas to the north and Punta Eugenia to the south (Cartamil et al., 2011; Hernández-Rivas et al., 2000). The bay covers 35,678 km² and is relatively shallow (average depth is 75 m) with a broad continental shelf (maximum width of 140 km) (Cartamil et al., 2011). BSV has marsh ecosystems, coastal dunes, three islands (Natividad, Cedros, and Benitos), and three coastal lagoons: Manuela, Guerrero Negro, and Ojo de Liebre lagoon (DOF, 2000).



Figure 2. Location of Vizcaino Bay, Mexico and main fishing camps. Black dots represent main fishing camps in the region. Blue polygons represent the limits of the Natural Protected Areas.

Among the different bays within the California Current System, BSV is one of the most productive due to the oceanographic dynamics present, such as upwelling and gyre activity (Amador-Buenrostro et al., 1995; Mancilla-Peraza et al., 1993). The Bay also provides retention, feeding, and nursery opportunities for various species and has been defined as a Biological Activity Centre (Hernández-Rivas et al., 2000). Moreover, BSV is located at the boundary between the San Diegan and Panamic Biogeographical Provinces and is considered a bioregion transition for the distribution of tropical and temperate species (Hernández-Rivas et al., 2006). Two federal marine protected areas within the Bay: El Vizcaíno Biosphere Reserve and Islas del Pacífico de la Peninsula de Baja California Biosphere Reserve, were established in 1988 and 2016, respectively (DOF, 2000; 2016)

The Ojo de Liebre lagoon is a 366 km² coastal lagoon 40 km long and6 km wide (average). This lagoon has channels with a maximum depth of 30 m, and it has five islets (DOF, 2000; Gutiérrez de Velasco, 2000). Its circulation is dominated by tidal currents and receives no freshwater input from continuous rivers or streams (De la Cruz Agüero et al., 1996; Gutiérrez de Velasco, 2000). This lagoon supports one of the more prominent salt companies in Mexico and also constitutes important fishing area. Because of its size, this lagoon also serves as important birthing and nursery habitat for the gray whale *Eschrichtius robustus* and some migratory birds (De la Cruz-Agüero et al., 1996; DOF, 2000).

1.2 Research questions

1. Which areas along the coast of BSV have higher interaction between fishing activities and immature white sharks in Vizcaino Bay?

2. How are immature white sharks from Vizcaino Bay and Southern California using (spatially and temporally) the Bay and the Ojo de Liebre lagoon?

3. Are immature white sharks reflecting the isotopic signature of potential prey from Vizcaino Bay?

4. Does the isotopic niche from immature white sharks overlap with those from other sharks?

1.3 Objectives

1.3.1 General objective

Describe the importance of Vizcaino Bay and Ojo de Liebre lagoon for the first life stages of WS from the standpoint of the spatiotemporal use, their trophic ecology in the area, and their interaction with fishing activities.

1.3.2. Specific objectives

- Describe the fishing activities inside Vizcaino Bay: fishing gears, duration of fishing trips, target species.
- Describe the sizes of white sharks incidentally caught in each fishing camp.
- Identify areas (including fishing camps) with higher interaction with WS.
- Describe the movements of white sharks caught along the shoreline near the inlet of the Ojo de Liebre lagoon using acoustic telemetry.
- Determine the months with a higher presence of white shark in Vizcaino Bay.
- Estimate residence time of white sharks in Vizcaino Bay and Ojo de Liebre lagoon.
- Describe the effect of size, sex, origin, and temperature on tagged shark residency inside and outside the Ojo de Liebre lagoon.
- Compare the isotopic values of muscle between life stages and between areas inside and outside Vizcaino Bay for white sharks.
- Estimate the contribution of potential prey to the isotopic values of white sharks.
- Estimate the isotopic overlap between white sharks and sympatric species that could have similar isotopic niches.
- Quantify the trophic position of white sharks in Vizcaino Bay.

2.1 Introduction

Protected areas and sanctuaries have proven to be useful elements that aid in the protection and conservation of vulnerable marine species, especially when coupled with other management strategies (Hillborn, 2017; Ward-Paige & Worm, 2017). For highly mobile species, like sharks, the identification of areas where individuals spend most of their time, like nursery areas, coupled with life-history information is essential for the development of specific conservation strategies aimed at reducing fishing mortality (Heupel & Simpfendorfer, 2005; Knip et al., 2012). Furthermore, the identification of areas where the interaction with fishing activities is higher is necessary to focus proper management strategies and protocols within the protected areas to conserve vulnerable marine species.

Nursery areas are crucial for juvenile survival (Heithaus, 2007; Heupel et al., 2007), and constitute an essential element for the population growth of white sharks (WS) (Mollet & Cailliet, 2002). Newborn (i.e. WS up to 150 cm), young of the year (YOY) (i.e. WS between 150-175 cm total length), and juvenile white sharks (i.e. WS between 175-300 cm total length) inhabit coastal waters where interactions with nearshore fisheries occur (Cailliet et al., 1985; Francis, 1996; Pratt, 1996; Wintner & Cliff, 1999; Weng et al., 2007; Lowe et al., 2012; Lyons et al., 2013; Oñate-Gonález et al., 2017). In the Northeastern Pacific, WS have been classified as "Vulnerable" by the IUCN and have been included in CITES Appendix II since 2004. In Mexico, WS are listed as "Threatened" by the NOM-059-SEMARNAT, and their catch or the possession of any of their parts was deem illegal in 2006 (DOF, 2007). These measures were reinforced in 2014 with the institution of a total fishing ban for WS and the mandatory release of any individual incidentally caught in fishing gears (DOF, 2014). Despite the regulations currently in place, incidental catches still occur in Mexican waters, especially in BSV (Oñate-González et al., 2017; Sosa-Nishizaki et al., 2015).

Vizcaino Bay (BSV) is located in the middle of the western coast of the Baja California Peninsula, Mexico (Figure 2). This bay has been identified as a nursery area for WS, including sharks born in BSV or sharks born in the Southern California Bight, US, that move into BSV mainly during autumn and winter (Oñate-Gonzalez et al., 2017; White et al., 2019). The southern portion of the Bay is part of the marine buffer zone of two protected areas: the El Vizcaíno Biosphere Reserve, that was established in 1988 to protect grey whales, and the Archipiélagos de San Benito y Cedros Natural Protected Area of the Islas del Pacífico de Baja California Biosphere Reserve, that was established in 2016 mostly to protect the habitats of seabirds

(DOF, 2000; 2016b). Artisanal fishing is allowed only to residents in the buffer zone of both protected areas (Figure 2).

Small-scale fisheries (artisanal fisheries), provide food security and are essential for the local economies of many coastal communities (Moreno-Báez et al., 2010) given that they require a low level of capital investment, due in part to the use of manual and labour-intensive harvesting practices (Salas et al., 2007). Generally, artisanal fisheries are multi-gear and multi-specific and contribute to national and international trade of fishing products (Cartamil et al. 2011). Despite the economic importance of the fishing activities in BSV (Álvarez et al., 2015), no formal description of the fisheries in the area is available that includes information on the target species, fishing areas, or how all these elements vary throughout the year. This information gap prevents an understanding of the interactions between artisanal fisheries and WS. Most incidental WS catches come from artisanal fisheries (Galván-Magaña et al., 2010; Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Oñate-González et al., 2017); however, because of the poor reporting and monitoring system for fishery data in Mexico (Castillo-Géniz et al., 1998; Hernández & Kempton, 2003; Arreguín-Sánchez & Arcos-Huitrón, 2007; Cisneros-Montemayor et al., 2013), reliable incidental catch data required for the formulation of management guidelines are not available. Gathering this information would result in better-informed conservation decisions for this species, as well as for other endangered species in the area. One way to overcome this lack of information is to capitalize on the accumulated local knowledge of artisanal fishers (Moreno-Báez et al. 2010).

Fishers's knowledge has proven to be a valuable source of information for vulnerable or endangered species in data-poor areas (Moore et al., 2010; Leeney & Poncelet, 2015). Also, it is essential to gather information from scientific sources to understand the impacts of fishing activities on local populations and to develop management and conservation strategies that benefit the entire community. These approaches can also offer opportunities to engage local communities in scientific studies and management activities through the development of relationships based on mutual trust that help to develop a sense of partnership and representation (Moore et al., 2010; Moreno-Báez et al., 2010; Carruthers & Neis, 2011; Jabado et al., 2015; Leeney & Poncelet, 2015).

This chapter aims to describe the activities and dynamics of the fisheries that interact with immature white sharks in BSV, to evaluate their impacts and identify the areas with the highest levels of interaction. This information will help inform the development of improved management strategies that could reduce the incidental catch of white sharks in BSV.

2.2 Methods

Between June and December 2015, semi-structured interviews were conducted with fishers from the following permanent BSV fishing camps (Figure 2): Santa Rosaliita, Laguna Manuela, Las Casitas, Malarrimo, El Campito, Punta Eugenia, and Bahía Tortugas (Cartamil et al., 2011; Ramírez-Amaro et al., 2013). Even though Bahía Tortugas is not inside BSV, it was included in the surveys because of its closeness to the bay, because fishers from there fish inside BSV and due to reports of incidental white shark catches from other studies at this fishing camp (Ramírez-Amaro et al., 2013). Only fishers using fishing gears that could interact with WS (gillnets or longlines) were interviewed, even if they only participated in fishing activities for part of the year. Surveys were conducted at landing sites, most commonly when fishers returned from their fishing trips. The duration of the interview was designed to be short (<40 mins) so as not disturb landing operations. Before initiating the interviews, fishers were informed of the goal of the project and that this study was part of an independent scientific research project. They were also informed that data obtained from the surveys could be used as a potential source of information for the development of management plans.

The questionnaire consisted of four general sections: demographic information and experience; fishing operation type, boat, and gear information; fishing sites; and incidental white shark catches. The first section included demographic information such as the age of the fishers, fishing experience, sources of income, number of dependents, and fishing cooperative information. The second section included questions regarding fishing gear and boat characteristics, fishing seasons, fishing trips, as well as the names of the target and incidental species caught in gears. The third section was focused on obtaining information on fishing sites, and fishers were asked to indicate on a map of BSV the main sites where they usually carried out their fishing activities. The last section consisted of gathering data regarding WS incidental catches, including the sites where incidental catches occurred or animals were spotted, their knowledge of shark regulations, their opinions of WS conservation, and their disposition to participate in a monitoring program.

The data obtained were analyzed using the response frequencies for all questions, and the results were compared between fishing camps and demographic groups. Fishing area polygons were constructed and were compared with WS sightings and incidental catch records to identify the areas with the greatest interactions between WS and fishing activities.

2.3 Results

Seventy-seven fishers were interviewed in six different fishing camps along the coast of BSV (Figure 2; Table 1). At the Punta Eugenia fishing camp, only one interview was conducted. Punta Eugenia has one of the largest fishery cooperatives in the area and targets mainly invertebrates, including abalone and lobster, which are fished for by diving and with traps baited with fish caught in gillnets. The results of the interviews at El Campito and Malarrimo were pooled due to their closeness.

Fishing camp	ID	Number of interviews
Bahía Tortugas	BT	14
El Campito-Malarrimo	CM-ML	10
Las Casitas	LC	29
Laguna Manuela	LM	13
Santa Rosaliita	SR	11

Table 1. Number of fishers interviewed by fishing camp in Vizcaino Bay

2.3.1 Fishers

The age of the fishers ranged from 18 to 64 years (mean= 41.93 ± 10.53 SD) (Table 2). Around 55% of the fishers belonged to middle-age groups (30-39 and 40-49 years), while older groups (>50 years) were represented by 30% of the fishers. Only 13% of interviewees were younger fishers (<30 years). Almost 60% of the respondents had fished for 20 or more years (Table 2), ranging from 1 to 50 years of experience (mean = 23.09 ± 10.84 SD). Around 85% of fishers indicated that they began to fish because a family member was involved in fishing activities.

Age	Number of	Mean years of	
group	fishers	experience	
<20	1	1.00	
20-29	9	12.33	
30-39	24	16.04	
40-49	19	25.16	
50-59	22	31.95	
>59	2	50.00	

Table 2. Demography of fishers interviewed in Vizcaino Bay

Most of the fishers (97 %) listed fishing as their primary economic activity, and for 78 % of respondents, fishing was their only source of income. The most common alternative occupations were animal breeding and bricklaying. Fishing activities are essential for the economies of fisher families because 97% of fishers stated that at least one person depends upon their income, with 66 % and 23 % of the fishers supporting between 2-3 and 4-7 people, respectively. Around 17% of the fishers worked independently while 83% were part of a fishing organization that could either be a fishing cooperative or a group of independent fishers not legally constituted.

2.3.2 Fishing operations, fishing gear, and target species

For all fishing camps, 83% of fishers indicated that they engaged in fishing activities throughout the year, with the greatest activity occurring from July to October. The most common vessel size was 8 m length (6-12 m) with 2 t of declared storage, while engines ranged between 40 HP and 155 HP, the latter being the most commonly used engine size. Half of the respondents declared that they were not the owners of the fishing vessel that they operated; however, all boats were either owned by fishing cooperatives or by other fishers. Twelve fishers responded that they owned more than one boat and that they typically used one fishing permit to cover all of their fishing vessels.

Gillnet operations in the BSV area are most prevalent from March to August, with the largest number of active gillnet operations occurring in August (Figure 3). The most frequently-used gillnet length was 1000 m, ranging from 200 to 6000 m (mean = 1584 ± 1291.43). Respondents mentioned that they use several net mesh sizes, including 11.5, 15, 20, and 25 cm, that are used to target smooth-hounds, guitarfishes, white seabass, and California halibut, respectively. The use of gillnets in Las Casitas appears to be more constant when compared with the other fishing camps, although increased use was observed between June and August, which coincides with the period of increased use in the fishing camps of Campito-Malarrimo and Bahía Tortugas. Laguna Manuela and Santa Rosaliita showed greater use of gillnets during the spring months. Aside from Las Casitas and Bahía Tortugas, the use of gillnets in the autumn and winter months was very low (Figure 3; Supplementary material, Figure 21).

Fishers indicated that they use longlines less frequently than gillnets, although periods of higher use were observed at the end of summer and autumn months (Figure 3), mainly in Laguna Manuela and Las Casitas. In Bahía Tortugas, longlines were used from summer to winter (Supplementary material, Figure 22.). Most

longlines were 1000 m, but the length varied between 200 m and 4800 m (mean = 1.50 ± 1.36 SD). Longlines were set with 15 to 500 hooks (mean = 226.77 ± 105.83 SD).



Figure 3. Fishing gear used in Vizcaino Bay by month. The period between May and July correspond with the yearly elasmobranch fishing ban.

Respondents indicated that they use traps mainly for fishing for lobster, but that in recent years, fishes have also been targeted with this fishing gear. Most of the trapping operations are carried out between September and January (Figure 3) during the lobster season, primarily in the fishing camps of Santa Rosaliita, Laguna Manuela, and Campito-Malarrimo (Supplementary material, Figure 23).

Approximately 80 % of the fishers responded that the duration of fishing trips was usually 8 hours, although durations ranged from 4 to 24 hours (mean = 9.45 ± 4.86). Shorter trip durations corresponded to trips in which fishers went to retrieve their nets, while longer trips were related to longline setting operations. Weather permitting, most of the fishers (85%) tended to go out fishing more than four days per week. The most common soaking time for both gillnets and longlines was 24 hours, but soaking times ranged from 4 to 48 hours. Shorter soaking times corresponded to fishing trips using set gillnets targeting white seabass and guitarfishes and to longline fisheries targeting sharks and giant seabass. Due to the fact that fishes could spend long periods in the fishing gears without decreasing its quality to be marketed, fisher prefer to let the gillnets for two days before getting them off, to maximize their catch.

Artisanal fishing in Vizcaino Bay is multi-specific. Twenty-one species were identified as target species (Table 3). These species are also incidentally caught when fishers target other species. The three main target species in BSV were white seabass (*Atractoscion nobilis*), California halibut (*Paralichthys californicus*), and shovelnose guitarfish (*Pseudobatos productus*) (Figure 4). These three species were mainly caught with bottom gillnets. Differences between the main target species were found between fishing camps (Supplementary material, Figures 24-28). The highest number of target species (21) was recorded for Las Casitas (Supplementary material, Figures 26), while Santa Rosaliita (Supplementary material, Figures 28) recorded the lowest number of target species (7). Fifteen other species were stated as incidental species in the area.



Figure 4. Major target species from artisanal fisheries in Vizcaino Bay.

Sharks were found also to be important fishery resources in BSV, and six shark species were included among the 21 target species (Table 3). Pacific angel shark (*Squatina californica*) was very important in Bahía Tortugas (Supplementary information, Figures 24), smooth-hound sharks (*Mustelus* spp.) in Campito-Malarrimo and Las Casitas (Supplementary material, Figures 25, 26), horn shark (*Heterodontus francisci*) was one of the main target species in Las Casitas (Supplementary material, Figures 25), blue sharks (*Prionace glauca*) and mako sharks (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) were important for Bahía Tortugas, Las Casitas, Laguna Manuela and Santa Rosaliita (Supplementary material, Figures 24, 26, 27, 28), while tope shark (*Galeorhinus galeus*) was important in Bahía Tortugas and Santa Rosaliita (Supplementary material, Figures 24, 28).

Common name	Species	Type of fishing	Fishing gear
White seabass	Atractoscion nobilis	Т, І	BG, SG, SN,
California halibut	Paralichthys californicus	Т, І	BG
Yellowtail	Seriola lalandi	Т, І	SG, SN
Shovelnose guitarfish	Pseudobatos productus	Τ, Ι	BG, SG, SN,
Horn shark	Hetorodontus francisci	Τ, Ι	BG, SG
Pacific angel shark	Squatina californica	Т, І	BG, L
Barred sand bass	Parallabrax nebulifer	Т, І	SG, TR
Sand bass	Parallabrax sp.	Т, І	SG
Ocean whitefish	Caulolatilus princeps	Т, І	SG
Smooth hound shark	Mustelus sp.	Т, І	BG
Blue shark	Prionace glauca	Т, І	L
Mako shark	Isurus oxyrhinchus	Т, І	L, SG
Requiem sharks	Carcharhinus brachyurus	Т, І	BG, SG, L
	Carcharhinus obscurus		
Common dolphinfish	Coryphaena hippurus	Τ, Ι	SG
Rays	Hypanus dipterurus	Τ, Ι	BG
	Urobatis halleri		
	Gymnura marmorata		
	Myliobatis californica		
Giant seabass	Stereolepis gigas	Т, І	BG, L
Shortfin corvina	Cynoscion parvipinnis	Т, І	SG
Smooth Hammerhead	Sphyrna zygaena	Т, І	BG, SG, L
California kingcroaker	Menticirrhus undulatus	Т, І	SN
Pacific sierra	Scomberomorus sierra	Т, І	SG, SN
Flathead Mullet	Mugil cephalus	Τ, Ι	SG, SN
Yellowfin tuna	Thunnus albacares	Τ, Ι	SG
Tope shark	Galeorhinus galeus	Τ, Ι	SG, L
Thresher shark	Alopias sp.	I	SG, L
Pacific sardine	Sardinops sagax caeruleus	I	SG, SN
Eastern pacific bonito	Sarda chiliensis	I	SG

Table 3. Target and incidental species caught by fishing gears in Vizcaino Bay (T = target species; I = incidental catch;BG = bottom gillnet; SG = set gillnets; SN = seine net; L = longline; TR = traps).

Leopard shark	Triakis semifasciata	I	BG
California sheephead	Semicossyphur pulcher	I	BG
Giant electric ray	Narcine entemedor	I	BG
Skipjack tuna	Katsuwonus pelamis	I	SG
Васосо	Anisotemus sp.	I	BG, SG
Paloma pompano	Trachinotus patiensis	I	SN, SG
Pacific porgy	Calamus brachysomus	I	SN, SG
California killifish	Fundulus parvipinnis	I	SN, SG
California scorpionfish	Scorpaena guttata	I	BG, SN, SG
California lizardfish	Synodus lucioceps	I	BG, SG
Spine tail devil ray	Mobula japanica	I	SG
Swell shark	Cephaloscyllium ventriosum	I	BG

2.3.3 Fishing areas.

Fishers indicated that their main fishing areas were primarily located nearshore and close to their fishing camps, but that they do go into offshore waters to catch pelagic species (Figure 5). Most of the fishing areas were found to be within the two Natural Protected Areas (Figure 2). However, fishers mentioned that, at times they move to other areas in search of their primary target species. Fishers from Bahía Tortugas travel approximately 100-120 km to fishing areas near Cedros and Natividad islands, while fishers from Campito and Malarrimo only fish in areas less than 10 km from the coastline. In Las Casitas, some fishers set their nets very close to the islets and the shore inside the Ojo de Liebre Lagoon, but other fishers go out of the lagoon and travel around 40 km to set their fishing gear, and at times moving into waters 100 km offshore. The fishing areas from Laguna Manuela and Santa Rosaliita are relatively close to the fishing camps (<35 km), with some of these areas located outside the Natural Protected Areas (Figure 5).

2.3.4 White shark incidental catch information.

Around 95% of respondents indicated that they could identify WS, and 75% stated that they had incidentally caught at least one WS during their fishing careers. Most of the fishers from the Las Casitas fishing camp indicated that they had caught a white shark (82%, n=24), followed by fishers from Laguna

Manuela (71%, n = 10) and fishers from Campito-Malarrimo (70%, n = 7). According to 68% of the fishers, mainly from the Las Casitas and Laguna Manuela fishing camps, the most common WS size was less than 2 m (Figure 6). Fishers from the Santa Rosaliita fishing camp reported that the most common WS size was 2-3 m. Even though it was not asked directly, many of the fishers commented that they do not incidentally catch WS every year (n = 52), and most of the comments indicated that 1-3 WS are caught every year in each fishing camp (n = 40).



Figure 5. Areas of greater interaction between white sharks (WS) and fishing activities (FA) in Vizcaino Bay.

Fishers indicated that WS are more commonly caught in bottom gillnets (75%) than on longlines (16%) during the late spring and summer months (Figure 7). These results were consistent between fishing camps, although some white shark incidental catch peaks during the winter months in Las Casitas, Laguna Manuela, and Santa Rosaliita were observed (Supplementary Material, Figure 29). Although fishers indicated that the incidental catch of WS occurs along the entire coast of the bay, the most commonly

reported areas were located very nearshore, near the mouth of the Ojo de Liebre lagoon, as well as on both sides outside the mouth of the lagoon (Figure 5). Other important areas where the incidental catch of white sharks occurs were indicated along the coast near Malarrimo, as well as inside the Ojo de Liebre Lagoon (Figure 5).



Figure 6. Sizes of juvenile white sharks incidentally caught in fishing camps from Vizcaino Bay (BT: Bahía Tortugas, CM-ML: Campito-Malarrimo, LC: Las Casitas, LM: Laguna Manuela, SR: Santa Rosaliita).



Figure 7. Incidental catches of juvenile white sharks by month in Vizcaino Bay.

Fishers were asked their opinion regarding the presence of WS in the area, and most answered that these sharks likely use the area to feed. About 66% of the fishers declared that WS do not have any economic value, while the other 34% stated that when white sharks are incidentally caught dead, they are sometimes sold as low-value meat. When asked what they know about the regulations surrounding white sharks, 85% of the respondents answered that they understand that white sharks are a protected species and that their catch is prohibited. When fishers were asked if they thought that WS needed protection, 74% answered "yes," and 61% indicated that WS protection benefits the entire community of BSV fishers. The most cited reason for this benefit was that adult white sharks prey on the pinnipeds that directly interact and interfere with fishing operations. Most of the fishers (64%) indicated that they would help to conserve WS and that they were already helping by releasing incidentally caught live white sharks. A high proportion (80%) of the respondents mentioned that they are willing to take part in specific WS monitoring programs.

2.4 Discussion

In this study, the majority of fishers had more than 20 years of personal experience in addition to the experience gained through relatives. The fishers were more than sufficiently experienced to provide accurate information regarding the topics raised in the interviews. In previous studies, fishers have been fearful of answering interview questions because of the potential effects that their answers could have on the development of regulations, especially when a protected species was involved in the surveys (Silver & Campbell, 2005; Leeney & Poncelet, 2015), which may influence the accuracy of their responses. In this study, fishers were enthusiastic about participating in the survey and were very open with their responses, indicating that the results presented are reliable.

Artisanal fisheries can account for 97% of the marine fleet in Mexico, highlighting their importance for coastal communities (Castillo-Géniz et al., 1998; Fernández et al., 2011; Álvarez et al., 2015). Our results are consistent with the aforementioned studies given that fishing is the main economic activity for the fishers of BSV and is often the primary (or even the only) source of income for their families, underscoring the socio-economic importance of artisanal fisheries.

Fishing activities are practiced throughout the year in BSV, but the use of fishing gears that interact with white sharks (i.e. gillnets or longlines) changes between fishing camps. Fishers from Campito-Malarrimo and some of the fishers from Laguna Manuela and Santa Rosaliita use these gears seasonally because they

have fishing permits for the most economically valuable resources in the area: i.e. lobster and abalone. These fishers switch to targeting lobster and abalone when their fishing seasons open, September -February for lobster (DOF, 2016c) and February - June for abalone (DOF, 2016a), so their use of gillnets and longlines is mainly restricted to the months of June, July, and August. Most of the fishers surveyed from Bahía Tortugas and Las Casitas did not have permits for lobster or abalone, and their use of gillnets and longlines is more consistent throughout the year.

The vessel characteristics in BSV were consistent with the descriptions of artisanal fishery vessels from other areas in Mexico (DOF, 2007; Sosa-Nishizaki et al., 2008; Bizzarro et al., 2009; Moreno-Báez et al., 2010; Cartamil et al., 2011;). As a result of the political push during the 1970s to industrialize Mexican fishing fleets and advance the development of technologies, artisanal fleets are relatively well-equipped (Cisneros-Montemayor et al., 2013) which has enabled fishers to travel further to fish. Fishers from Vizcaino Bay, who use powerful engines, may travel up to 100 km to reach particular fishing grounds. Also, the implementation of hydraulic net winches in Bahía Tortugas and Campito-Malarrimo to pick-up nets has allowed the length of these nets to increase in comparison to the lengths of nets from other camps where fishers have to pick-up their gears by hand. Comments from respondents indicated that some fishers use a single fishing permit for several vessels and that a lot of fishing permits are not in use by the owners. This practice makes it very difficult to estimate the real fishing effort that interacts with white sharks in BSV.

In BSV, fishing activities are multi-specific, and target species may change from one day to the next, depending on their availability (Cartamil et al., 2011). Six of the ten most important target species in the area are bottom-related species that dwell in habitats where immature white sharks often forage. Also, two other target species are fished with longlines, and reports of incidental white sharks catches due to the use of these gear types have been reported (Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Oñate-González et al., 2017). In addition, six target species were previously found in the stomachs of juvenile white sharks from the North-eastern Pacific (Santana-Morales et al., 2012). Most of these species are caught using bottom gillnets with mesh sizes between 15-20 cm, which pose an entanglement threat to smaller white sharks (Lowe et al., 2012; Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Lyons et al., 2013; Ramírez-Amaro et al., 2013; Oñate-González et al., 2017).

A high proportion (71%) of the fishers stated that they have incidentally caught white sharks, which agrees with incidental catches previously recorded in these fishing camps (Santana-Morales et al., 2012; ; Ramírez-Amaro et al., 2013; Oñate-González et al., 2017). In general, the sizes of white sharks incidentally

caught in the area as indicated by fishers (<2m) are consistent with the sizes previously reported for incidental white sharks catches in the area, along with the reported months in which most incidental catches occurred (summer) and the fishing gears used (bottom gillnet) reported for the North-eastern Pacific (Cartamil et al., 2011; Lowe et al., 2012; Santana-Morales et al. 2012; Lyons et al., 2013; Oñate-González et al., 2017). However, responses varied between fishing camps. Fishers from the northern fishing camps reported catches of white sharks during winter months, which could be related with the migration of juvenile white sharks from the Southern California Bight when the waters along California get colder (Weng et al., 2007; White et al., 2019). Also, fishers indicated that incidental catches of white sharks larger than 3 m occurred near the islands of Natividad, Cedros, and San Benito, which could be related to the presence of pinniped colonies, as pinnipeds are common prey for sharks of that size (Hussey et al., 2012; Arias-del-Razo et al., 2016).

The number of WS incidentally caught per fishing camp in this study is lower than what was reported by Oñate-González et al. (2017), who state that the incidental catches for some years were >100 WS. In our research, fishers were very open in their responses and even with issues related to white sharks catches, and it seems unlikely that their responses were inaccurate. However, direct observations of incidental catches in the area after this study was carried out suggesting numbers closer to what was reported by the fishers, with <15 incidental white sharks caught per year (Sosa-Nishizaki et al., 2015). An elasmobranch fishing ban was implemented in 2012 (DOF, 2012), but it seems unlikely that this ban could affect the number of incidental white shark catches because fishers are still able to target white sharks. One of the data sources from Oñate-González et al. (2017) were log books from people in the fishing camps that were not necessarily fishers, which might explain the higher number of reported catches. Also, it is entirely plausible that during the years when Oñate-González et al. (2017) carried out their study, white sharks may have been especially susceptible to fishing activities due to oceanographic or ecological reasons.

The white shark is protected in Mexico by the NOM-059-SEMARNAT (2010), and its catch is prohibited by the NOM-029-PESC (2007), in addition to a species-specific ban that was implemented in 2014 (DOF, 2014). However, the dissemination of legislative information in coastal communities can be difficult (Bonfil et al., 2017). The lack of knowledge about regulations was evident in this study, with some fishers (15%) declaring that they did not know the existing rules surrounding white sharks, which might, in part explain the number of incidental immature white sharks catches still occurring in BSV. Reducing juvenile white sharks incidental catch in BSV appears to be difficult given that these sharks are incidentally caught when fishers target high-value species (California halibut and white seabass), so the effect of strengthening

existing regulations may have a high social impact. In California, USA, it has been reported that the survival of juvenile white sharks increases when the soaking time of gillnets is <20 hours (Lyons et al., 2013). Thus, there is a high probability that white sharks could be released from the nets alive if soaking time in BSV is decreased. So, even if incidental catches do not stop, by releasing white sharks alive, fishing mortality should decrease.

The entire coast of Vizcaino Bay was identified as an area where fishers have incidentally caught white sharks; however, areas very close to the shore were the most important with only a small number of incidental catches recorded from fishing grounds far from the coast. This could be due to the preference of immature white sharks for shallow nearshore areas (Weng et al., 2007; Lyons et al., 2013; Harasti et al., 2017; Curtis et al., 2018) or due to a lower susceptibility of white sharks to fishing activities in offshore areas. Las Casitas stands out among the fishing camps because most fishers mentioned catches of white sharks and because geographically, those fishers operate in all the areas that are critical for incidental white shark catches (Figure 5). People from that camp, fish inside and outside the Ojo de Liebre Lagoon, to the north and south of the mouth of the lagoon, and the Malarrimo area, while fishers from other fishing camps can only access one of these places because going to other areas to fish implies a higher investment (i.e., fuel costs). Almost all the critical areas for the incidental catch of white sharks are inside one of the two Natural Protected Areas, except for some areas in the northern portion of the bay. Protected areas are designed for the conservation of vulnerable species, the protection of critical habitats, and fishery management (Bonfil, 1999; Hillborn, 2017). Their effectiveness in areas where fishing activities are permitted relies on other factors, including the engagement of local communities in the decision-making process, which is particularly important in Mexico (MacKeracher et al., 2018; Ulate et al., 2018)

Fishers's knowledge proved to be a reliable source of information for fishing activities from BSV as well as for the interactions between white sharks and BSV fisheries. This demonstrates its usefulness for describing artisanal fisheries when existing data are limited (Moreno-Báez et al., 2010) or when information regarding vulnerable or endangered species and their interactions with anthropogenic activities must be gathered (Frans & Augé, 2016; Hashim et al., 2017). This information serves as the baseline for the description of fishing activities in this area. Lack of information from artisanal fisheries along the Pacific coast of Baja California, Mexico, has been reported (Cartamil et al., 2011), avoiding the comparison if fishing activities have changed trough time and, in consequence, if interaction with white sharks has increased or decreased. Despite the biological and fishing importance of the area (Hernández-Rivas et al., 2000; Cartamil et al., 2011; Ramírez-Amaro et al., 2013), this is the first concerted effort to gather this information. While there is no consistent data on the number of fishers in the BSV, comments

of the fishers surveyed and the sample size of this study provides not only an estimated of fishing activity, but also the attitudes of the fishing community that interacts with white sharks.

Previous studies tried to assess the status of white sharks in the North-eastern Pacific and reported a low probability that the white shark population is currently in danger (Dewar et al., 2013; Burgess et al., 2014). However, the main uncertainty is related to the incidental catches of juvenile white sharks, especially in Mexican waters, so a proper monitoring program to effectively report those catches is needed and to evaluate if they have been underestimated. Even if incidental catches of adult white sharks have been reported (Galván-Magaña et al. 2010), it seems that they are not large enough to put the population at risk (Dewar et al., 2013; Burgess et al., 2014). However, most of these adult catches occur at fishing grounds inside the Gulf of California, which are isolated and poorly monitored, so the number of adult white sharks caught in the area also might be underestimated.

Based on the information gathered in this study regarding the socio-economic importance of fishing activities in the area, we believe that more drastic regulations in Mexico for white shark conservation and management are not necessary. However, a regular monitoring program that records the number of juvenile white sharks incidentally caught in the area is necessary to corroborate if levels of incidental catches in BSV are as declared by the fishers and to understand the effect of these incidental catches on white shark population dynamics. Also, it is necessary to identify the origin of the sharks incidentally caught in the area (i.e., Vizcaino Bay or the Southern California Bight, Oñate-Gonzalez, et al., 2017) to understand the effects on white shark recruitment from both nursery areas. The fact that not all fishers knew existing regulations for white shark indicates that the dissemination of this information should be strengthened. It also highlights the need for an education campaign with fishers related to the importance of fulfilling the regulations and strengthening the white shark conservation.

The white shark has no economic value for BSV fishers, making it an ideal species to obtain the involvement of fishers in monitoring and conservation efforts, as a majority of them were willing to participate in this study. Conservation actions for the fishing camp of Las Casitas must be developed due to the high degree of reported interactions with juvenile white sharks. Management actions should be focused on decreasing fishing mortality by reducing the soaking time of bottom gillnets to allow the release of sharks alive, along with a fishers training program for the correct release of the sharks. Also, strategies like limiting fishing effort during months with higher incidental catches or the use of modified or alternative, fishing gear could be explored.

Chapter 3. The use of a coastal lagoon by juvenile white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) as part of a nursery area in the Northeastern Pacific

3.1 Introduction

Coastal areas are vital for many shark species because it provides food availability and refugee from predators. These habitats, including bays, estuaries, and coastal lagoons, are used as nurseries, feeding or resting areas (Heupel et al., 2007; Knip et al., 2012). In some cases, these habitats are important for only one life stage (Heupel & Simpfendorfer, 2011) or several life stages (Wells et al., 2018). Understanding how sharks use these habitats during their life cycle is crucial to define their role in ecosystems and to develop spatial management strategies (Heithaus, 2007; Espinoza et al., 2015; Crossin et al., 2017).

In recent years, passive acoustic telemetry has proven to be a useful tool for quantifying area residency and movement patterns of sharks (Heupel et al., 2004; Knip et al., 2010) in relationship to environmental conditions (Donaldson et al., 2014; Heupel and Simpfendorfer, 2015; Oh et al., 2017; Heupel et al., 2018). For example, this technique has been used to study the movements of highly migratory sharks like shortfin mako *Isurus oxyrinchus* (Sepulveda et al., 2004) and common thresher *Alopias vulpinus* (Cartamil et al., 2010). Also, it has been useful to describe coastal movements of vulnerable sharks like scalloped hammerhead *Sphyrna lewini* (Nalesso et al., 2019), the whale shark *Rhincodon typus* (Gunn et al., 1999; Cagua et al., 2015), and the white shark (Francis et al., 2015; Harasti et al., 2017; McAuley et al., 2017; Curtis et al., 2018; Bruce et al., 2019).

The white shark *Carcharodon carcharias* is globally listed as a "vulnerable" species and is protected in most waters where populations are common (Rigby et al., 2019). Movements of adults are relatively well studied (e.g., Weng et al., 2007; Jorgensen et al., 2010; Duffy et al., 2012; Domeier & Nasby-Lucas, 2008; 2013; McAuley et al., 2017), but for younger sharks, their movements are not fully understood in all regions where they are present, even if in the past years this knowledge has increased (Bruce et al. 2019, Spaet et al. 2020)there is a lack of knowledge on how juveniles move in each region of its distribution. Recently, movements through ontogeny, and especially for early life stages, has been proposed as a research priority for the species (Huveneers et al., 2018).

In general, juvenile white sharks are known to distribute in coastal nursery areas and could enter into estuaries (Dewar et al., 2004; Weng et al., 2012; Harasti et al., 2017; Curtis et al., 2018; White et al., 2019).
These areas are essential and suitable places to spend their first life stages, offering them protection from predators and high availability of food (Heithaus, 2007; Heupel et al., 2007). Two nursery areas have been proposed for the white sharks in the Northeastern Pacific: one in the Southern California Bight, USA (Klimley, 1985; Domeier 2012; Lowe et al., 2012; Lyons et al. 2013) and the other one in Vizcaino Bay (BSV), Mexico (Oñate-González et al., 2017). The later serves as a nursery area for sharks born in BSV and juvenile sharks from the other nursery area in California (Oñate-González et al., 2015; 2017). However, these areas are places where interaction between juvenile white sharks and fisheries is higher, causing incidental catches (Cartamil et al., 2011; Lowe et al., 2012; Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Lyons et al., 2013; Oñate-González et al., 2017; García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020). These incidental catches might affect juvenile survival, one of the most critical elements for the population growth of white sharks (Mollet & Calliet, 2002). Despite its importance, the use of this nursery habitat by immature white sharks in the Northeastern pacific has not been fully explored.

The white shark is a protected species in both the USA and Mexico, but incidental catches of this species still occur, especially in BSV, where juvenile white sharks are more susceptible to fishing activities than in California (Benson et al., 2018). In BSV, juvenile white sharks are incidentally caught, mostly, in bottom gillnets targeting white seabass and California halibut in summer months (Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Oñate-González et al., 2017; García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020). Incidental catches in BSV occur all along the coast of the Bay and inside the Ojo de Liebre lagoon (García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020), which suggests the potential importance of this habitat for immature white sharks. To our knowledge, no previous work has focused on the use of coastal lagoons by juvenile white sharks in the Northeastern Pacific, and this type of information is needed to understand the ecological role that these areas play for juvenile white sharks and to understand the extent of interactions with anthropogenic activities.

In this study, we used an autonomous passive acoustic telemetry receiver array to understand better how immature white sharks are using the Ojo de Liebre lagoon and nearshore areas adjacent to the lagoon inlet. The main goals were to 1) describe the juvenile white shark's presence patterns inside and outside the lagoon in a temporal scale, and 2) and to understand which biological (size, sex, origin) and environmental factors (temperature, salinity) are influencing their presence or absence from these environments. Results from this work could aid to refine management strategies that help to diminish the risk of incidental catches.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Acoustic monitoring.

An array of 11 VR2W (VEMCO) acoustic receiver was deployed inside and outside the Ojo de Liebre lagoon (Figure 8), from November 2013 to November 2017, to monitor juvenile white shark movements and their use the lagoon. Temporal coverage of the receivers varied over time, as three receivers were deployed in 2013, and the other eight were deployed at new location in 2014 And 2015 (Table 4). Receivers were deployed between sand and rocky substratum areas to prevent removal by local artisanal fishers and were suspended in the water column 1 m above the bottom by a mid-water buoy.

Although environmental conditions varied between inside and outside the lagoon, which likely influence receiver performance, the nominal acoustic detection ranges of receivers were estimated to be 350 m throughout the array. For this estimation, we conducted range tests in three places of the study area: inner lagoon, near the inlet and outside the lagoon. Test were done at a maximum distance of 500 m from the VR2W receivers with three V16 tags lowered at 5 m depth set for 10 minutes intervals each 50 m.



Figure 8. Location of the acoustic array deployed in Vizcaino Bay. Black dots represent the location of each receiver. Red dots are the locations inside the lagoon from where temperatures were taken and the blue dot is the station that represent the temperature outside the lagoon.

Receiver	Depth (m)	Month of deploy	Year of deploy
1	10	October	2013
2	8	October	2013
3	8	October	2013
4	20	June	2014
5	14	June	2014
6	6	June	2014
7	10	June	2014
8	18	June	2015
9	15	June	2015
10	10	June	2015
11	6	June	2015

Table 4. Acoustic receivers deployed in Vizcaino Bay.

3.2.2 Tagging of sharks.

With the help of local fishers, juvenile white sharks were caught, either with gillnets or longlines. Fishing gear sets were soaked for no more than 1 hour to reduce incidental mortality. All captured individuals were measured to the nearest centimeter of total length (TL) and sexed. For each tagged shark, an external acoustic transmitter (V16, 69 kHz; VEMCO; 159 dB power output, 3650 days battery life and transmission interval of 100 to 300 s) was anchored near the base of the first dorsal fin. On average, each shark was restrained for less than 10 min before its release. Also, presence of sharks tagged in California between 2011 and 2017 were monitored in the BSV array. Tagged sharks were categorized by size as newborns (NB) when smaller than 150 cm TL, young-of-the-year (YOY) between 150 and 175 cm TL, and juvenile (JUV) those larger than 175 cm TL. All sharks tagged in California before deploying the acoustic array in BSV were classified as JUV in this analysis.

3.2.3 Environmental data

Monthly surface water temperature data from several stations inside the Ojo de Liebre lagoon and from one station outside were obtained from the salt company based at Guerrero Negro. Temperature data from stations inside the lagoon were averaged to have a single temperature data inside the OLL.

3.2.4 Data analysis

Because of environmental noise and code collisions, a shark presence within the array was determine in at least two detections were recorded within 24 hours, all single detections were removed from the analysis based on Simpfendorfer et al. (2005). To quantify the temporal use of the area, we use the residence index (RI), calculated as the number of days a shark was detected within the acoustic array as a proportion of the number of days the tagged shark was monitored. Two RI were estimated: an overall RI and a monthly RI. These indexes were calculated for each shark detected in the array, and by areas: inside and outside OLL areas. General Additive Models were used to describe if age group (NB, YOY, JUV), sex (male or female), or origin (tagged at BSV or California) influenced the occurrence of white sharks within the monitored areas. The residence index per month for each shark was used as the response variable, and a Beta error distribution (commonly used for proportions) and logit link function were used. The backward selection was used to drop predictor variables (based on p<0.5 values), and the "best" model was selected based on the Akaike's information criterion (AIC). General Additive Mixed Models (GAMM) were used to determine the effect by age group, sex, origin, month, temperature, and salinity on the occurrence (RI) of white shark inside and outside OLL, with a beta error distribution and logit link. Cubic regression spline (Bs = "cr") was used to model predictor variables. Basis dimension ("k") was restricted to <4 to avoid overfitting. Pearson correlation coefficient (r) was used to eliminate correlated variables to avoid over-fitting the model. All models were runs using the mqcv and qamm4 packages in R (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2020).

3.3 Results

A total of thirteen immature white sharks were tagged at BSV, but only eight were detected in the acoustic array. From the 13 sharks, four (30.7%) were subsequently incidentally caught and reported as dead in the nets, while the other two were never detected, and their mortality was not confirmed. Additionally, another seven sharks tagged at California, USA, were detected at the BSV-OLL array (Table 5). Sharks' size ranged from 138 to 300 cm TL (165.4 \pm 35.36; mean \pm SD) at the time of tagging, and the sex ratio was 1:1. From these 20 sharks, four were classified as NB, five as YOY, and 11 as JUV (Table 5).

Sharks detections were recorded on receivers during all months of the study period, except for the months of April and August 2015, and June-August 2016. However, individually, sharks presented a different

pattern of presence and absence in the array (Figure 9). A highest number of sharks were detected during the fall and winter months (Figure 10). Only eight of the sharks were detected in multiple years, while the other twelve were detected only in one year of the study period (Figure 9).



Figure 9 Time series of detections (blue circles) of immature white sharks in Ojo de Liebre lagoon and its surrounding waters from 2013 to 2017. Black circles represent the date of tagging. * represent sharks tagged at California.

Overall RI was low for all the sharks (<0.3; Table 5), but Monthly RI revealed high residency for some sharks during particular months (> 0.9; Fig. 3). For example, shark T2 was detected every year around 30 consecutive days, and shark T5 was detected 42 consecutive days in winter 2016 (Figure 9). Mean RI was higher in September (0.47), December (0.28), and January (0.20) for all the acoustic array, but in every month, some sharks were not detected (RI = 0; Figure 11). RI was higher outside the OLL than inside the lagoon (Figure 11). Higher mean RI outside the lagoon was in September, April, and May, while June and July had the lowest mean RI. Inside the lagoon, winter and early spring had higher RI (Figure 11).

White sharks were detected by all but two receivers located in the middle part of the OLL (Figure 11). All sharks showed a high percentage of detections by receivers outside OLL, except for two sharks (T12 and T13), which also had many detections in areas inside the lagoon (Figure 12). During the study period, sharks were detected from one single day up to 115 non-consecutive days. During 47 different days, there were

multiple sharks (more than one) detected in a single day, with a maximum of four different sharks detected

in a single day.

Table 5. White sharks tagged and detected in Vizcaino Bay. Details include sex (F, female; M, male), life stage (NB, newborn; YOY, young of the year; JUV, juvenile), total length (TL), date of tagging (DT), date of the last detection (DLD), number of days detected (DD) and residence index (RI). * represents sharks tagged at California, USA. + represents mortality. - no data.

							Number	
Shark	Sex	Stage	TL (cm)	DT	DLD	DD	of	RI
10			(ciii)				detected	
T1†	М	YOY	161	06/26/15	07/15/15	2	1	0.0667
T2†	F	JUV	182	07/12/15	-	-	-	-
Т3	F	YOY	152	07/13/15	-	-	-	-
T4	F	YOY	166	07/15/16	-	-	-	-
T5	F	JUV	193	07/15/16	06/23/17	57	7	0.1133
T6†	Μ	NB	138	07/15/16	-	-	-	-
Τ7	F	JUV	190	07/16/16	07/22/17	19	6	0.0378
T8†	Μ	NB	142	07/31/16	-	-	-	-
Т9	F	NB	148	06/20/17	06/26/17	4	2	0.0245
T10	Μ	YOY	152	06/20/17	11/22/17	3	1	0.0184
T11	Μ	YOY	153	06/20/17	07/18/17	13	2	0.0798
T12	F	NB	149	06/20/17	06/23/17	3	1	0.0184
T13	Μ	JUV	176	06/20/17	11/24/17	6	3	0.0368
T14*	Μ	JUV	156	07/26/15	10/21/17	115	3	0.2333
T15*	F	JUV	157	08/01/11	05/23/15	11	1	0.0075
T16*	F	JUV	146	06/14/12	05/31/15	41	5	0.0278
T17*	F	JUV	159	08/28/13	02/10/16	14	2	0.0095
T18*	Μ	JUV	145	08/16/12	03/09/15	41	4	0.0278
T19*	Μ	JUV	143	08/17/12	05/14/17	110	3	0.0745
T20*	UN	JUV	300	08/24/17	10/03/17	1	1	0.0102

Receiver five had the highest number of sharks detected (9), followed by receivers one (8) and two (8), both inside the lagoon (Figure 13). Receivers outside the lagoon had a higher number of detections than receivers inside OLL. The area near the mouth of the lagoon seems to be used by white sharks during more extended periods, while a lower number of detections inside the lagoon suggests that incursions are sporadic and have short-time duration.



Figure 10. The cumulative number of tagged white sharks detected in Ojo de Liebre lagoon and its surrounding waters per month from 2013-2017.



Figure 11. Mean residence index (RI) for juvenile white sharks detected inside and outside the Ojo de Liebre lagoon. The error bars represent the standard deviation in each month. Numbers above each bar represent the number of sharks detected per month.



Figure 12. Percentage of detections per receiver for immature white sharks in Ojo de Liebre lagoon and its surrounding waters. Bubble size represent the proportion of overall detections for individuals detected on the array. "X" refers to the receiver location where no detections were recorded.



Figure 13. Percentage of detections per receiver (black dots) and number of white sharks (red numbers) detected per acoustic receiver in the Ojo de Liebre lagoon and its surrounding waters.



Figure 14 Average monthly surface temperatures inside and outside the Ojo de Liebre lagoon from November 2013 to November 2017.

Temperature were similar inside and outside OLL. Outside temperatures ranged from 16.6° to 26.1 °C, while inside ranged from 16.3 to 26.9 °C (Figure 14). Temperatures were higher from late spring to early fall with a maximum peak in September of each year. After that, these temperatures decreased in late fall and winter with a minimum temperature in December (Figure 14).

General Additive Model results suggested that sex (males) and origin (California) were the better predictors for the overall RI, with life stage as the less significant factor (Table 6). These results seem to be influenced by sharks tagged at California monitored for a longer time than sharks tagged at BSV. Month (September, December and January), origin (California), and sex (males) were significant predictors (*p* <0.01) of the presence of white sharks outside the lagoon, but the "best" model only includes the interaction of month and origin (Table 7). Sharks seem to be more resident outside the OLL in fall and winter months, but again, this seems to be influenced by sharks coming from California. According to GAMM, inside the OLL, life stage (Juveniles) and month (January-March) were the best predictors of the presence of sharks (RI), and temperatures were not significant (p= 0.13). Juveniles (larger than 175 cm TL) seem to use the lagoon in winter and early spring months.

Model	AIC
Sex*Origin	-68.45
Sex	-68.30
Sex*Stage	-65.80
Origin	-65.31
Stage	-63.37

Table 6. Ranking of General Additive Models of total Residence Index of white sharks explained by biological variables. AIC, Akaike Information Criterion. Only the better five models are showed.

Table 7. Ranking of General Additive Mixed Models of residence index of white sharks inside and outside the Ojo de Liebre Lagoon explained by independent variables. Only the better six models are showed.

Model	AIC
Outside OLL	
Sex + Origin * Month	-142.20
Month * Origin	-140.04
Month + Origin	-140.06
Origin + Sex * Month	-139.50
Stage + Origin * Month	-139.31
Sex + Stage * Month	-137.94
Inside OLL	
Stage + Month	-97.53
Stage + Sex * Month	-96.76
Sex * Month	-96.24
Sex + Stage	-95.84
Stage + Month	-95.59
Stage + Origin * Month	-95.41

3.4 Discussion

Our results show that immature white sharks are present in BSV during all months of the year. Their presence highlights the importance of this large bay as a primary nursery, and confirms the movements of sharks from California to Mexican waters, as previously reported (Weng et al., 2012; White et al. 2019).

Worldwide, immature white sharks are known to occupy coastal nurseries areas during several months of the year prey abundance and suitable habitat conditions that in Northeastern Pacific are related to waters with depths less than 1000 m, distances <30 km from the coastline and temperatures between 14 to 24 °C (Bradford et al., 2012; Bruce & Bradford, 2012; Harasti et al., 2017; Curtis et al., 2018; White et al., 2019). Even if previous information from satellite tags and stable isotope analysis has revealed that BSV is used by immature white sharks (Weng et al., 2007; 2012; Malpica-Cruz et al., 2013; White et al., 2019; Tamburin et al., 2020), this study is the first attempt focused in the description of the habitat use of this coastal lagoon and the areas near its inlet by the species. Sex and place of tagging were the factors that better explained the presence of immature white sharks in all the study areas, where males tagged at California resulted in the more significant effect. These results suggest that maybe there is a sex-biased use of the lagoon and the areas near the inlet, where males distribute in areas closer to the detection range of the receivers than females. Results from the GAMM modeling showed that month and origin were the factors that better explained the presence of white sharks in areas outside the OLL, with late fall and early winter months and sharks tagged at California having a more significant effect. Also, a higher number of sharks were detected during fall and winter months, probably concerning the movement of juvenile white sharks from California to Mexican waters (Weng et al., 2012; White et al., 2019). The significant effect of the sharks tagged at California in our models could be explained by the time period that sharks from both areas were monitored. Sharks from California were tagged before the acoustic array was deployed in BSV and in consequence they were monitored for more time than sharks tagged at BSV (after the deploy of the array). To explore if sharks born at BSV uses the inlet are from OLL different than sharks coming from California, the number of sharks tagged and the monitoring time at BSV should increase.

Surprisingly, the temperature was not a factor explaining the use of BSV by immature white sharks, even if this variable has been shown as a driver for the movements and distribution for several shark species (Vaudo et al., 2016; Andrzejaczek et al., 2018; Payne et al., 2018). Also, previous studies have shown that seasonal decreases in surface water temperatures in southern California may cue fall migrations of juvenile white sharks leave into Mexico waters (Weng et al., 2007; White et al., 2019). Based on its annual SST and water depth, BSV has been reported to be environmentally suitable for immature white sharks year-round, suggesting that BSV provides all the favorable conditions for these life stages compared with other nearby areas between California and BSV (White et al., 2019), and that seasonal changes of temperature do not decrease this habitat suitability. Temperature ranges inside and outside OLL were in the range that immature white sharks are known to occupy (Weng et al., 2012; White et al., 2019), so this could be an explanation to not being significant in our models. During warmer interannual events like El Niño or the Blob, waters from BSV have been reported to get warmer than usual, and the suitability for immature

white sharks might change, forcing some white sharks to move to other suitable areas as happenings with other species (Cavole et al., 2016; White et al., 2019). White et al. (2019) reported that juvenile white sharks in California were found to move to areas north of Point Conception during the 2015-2016 ENSO-Blob event, to areas where neonate and YOY white sharks had previously not be observed. Some of the few months (April and August 2015, and June-August 2016) of the monitoring period where we did not get detections were during these events, suggesting that immature white sharks moved out from the acoustic array, even if their presence in the area was confirmed by the tagging of five immature white sharks during June 2016 (Table 5). This highlights the importance to understand if suitable conditions are the same for white sharks born in BSV and the ones born in California.

Our results showed that under normal conditions, white sharks enter into the OLL almost every month of the year, in some of the months only for short periods. Juvenile sharks of other species use these areas for protection from predators (Heupel et al., 2007; Knip et al., 2010). However, we found that larger white sharks (larger than 175 cm TL) enter more frequently into the lagoon, mostly during winter and early spring months. Due to the size of white sharks observed, it seems unlikely that seeking protection is the reason to enter into the lagoon. These movements could be related to taking advantage of the temporal prey availability, as reported for estuaries in Australia (Harasti et al., 2017). In the OLL, white sharks were detected mostly in the receivers located near the mouth of the lagoon, but they were also detected in receivers farther from the mouth, near islets where demersal elasmobranchs (mainly diamond stingrays and California butterfly rays) congregate and are often targeted by artisanal fishers (pers. Obs.). These species are common prey of younger white sharks (Tricas & McCosker, 1984; Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Tamburin et al., 2020; Chapter 4), suggesting that prey availability might explain better why white sharks are entering into this habitat.

Winter and spring months are when grey whales come into coastal lagoons of the Baja California peninsula, including the OLL, for breeding and calving (Urban et al., 2003; Brenner et al., 2016). Fishers have reported sightings of white sharks scavenging on dead calves of grey whales inside the OLL. A switch in diet towards feeding on marine mammals related with size has been reported for white sharks around 200 cm TL (Tricas & McCosker, 1985; Estrada et al., 2006; Carlisle et al., 2021; Hussey et al., 2012). Scavenging may be more common than reported and be an additional explanation for the presence of sharks larger than 175 cm TL inside the lagoon.

Even if immature white sharks could be present in all months of the year in the area near the mouth of the OLL, the residence index was lower, suggesting that these sharks are moving off the detection range

of the acoustic receivers to other areas inside BSV but farther from the OLL inlet area or to other regions. According to reports of incidental catches and telemetry data, immature white sharks could be moving along the coast of the Baja peninsula and into the Gulf of California, so the sharks tagged in this study could be moving to any of those areas or, for sharks tagged at California, returning there (Weng et al., 2007; 2012; Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Ramírez-Amaro et al., 2013; Marquez-Farías & Lara-Mendoza, 2017; Oñate-González et al., 2017; White et al., 2019). However, for sub-adult and adult white sharks there has been reports of smaller sharks leaving an area where larger sharks come (Becerril-García et al., 2019), indicating that social components could not be discarded.

The low residence of individuals in the receiver's array could be due to two factors: movements outside the BSV area or due to the coverage area of the receivers. A low residence has been found for other migratory species like dusky sharks (Braccini et al., 2017) due to their capacity to make larger movements. In the case of these immature white sharks, it is known that they are moving between nurseries in California and Mexico (Weng et al., 2007; 2009; White et al., 2019). Stable isotope analyses (Tamburin et al., 2020; Chapter 4) and preliminary data from satellite tags have shown that immature white sharks move to offshore areas inside BSV, where they are accessing deeper depths (up to 50 m). The limitation of the coverage area from the acoustic receivers could be underestimating the presence of white sharks in BSV. Deploying more acoustic receivers throughout certain parts of the Bay was not feasible due to high seasonal shrimp trawling activity. Future efforts should be focused on the deployment of more receivers covering all the bay to account for this potential source of bias and to understand the pattern of spatial and temporal use beyond the OLL and the areas near its inlet. As well, this preliminary data from satellite tagging has shown that some sharks could move to northern areas near another coastal lagoon in the San Quintin bay area, which, like BSV, is high productivity area (Aguirre-Muñoz et al., 2001; Camacho-Ibar et al., 2003; Álvarez-Borrego, 2004). The movements of younger white sharks to San Quintin Bay and the reports of incidental catches in other coastal lagoons from the region, like San Ignacio and Bahía Magdalena (Ramírez-Amaro et al., 2013) could suggest the potential importance as nursery habitats of the coastal lagoons in the Baja peninsula for early life stages of white sharks, especially if the hypothesis of population growth in the region is correct (Lowe et al., 2012; Tinker et al., 2016).

Most of the detections came from receivers near the mouth of the OLL, an area previously reported as crucial for white sharks in the region (Guerrero-Avila et al., 2013; García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020). These areas are also the places where there is a higher interaction with artisanal fisheries, mostly from fishers based at the fishing camp in the Ojo de Liebre lagoon (García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020). These results suggest a higher spatial overlap between immature white sharks and artisanal fishing

activities than the overlap reported for California (Lyons et al., 2013), explaining more considerable fishing mortality in Mexican waters (Benson et al., 2018). Incidental catches of immature white sharks are related with the use of bottom gillnets (Lowe et al., 2012; Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Lyons et al., 2013; Oñate-González et al., 2017), and in BSV, these incidental catches are more common when fishers are targeting high-value species, like California halibut, white seabass, and rays (García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020). These species are common prey of juvenile white sharks (Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Chapter 4) and are caught all along the coast of BSV (García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020) at shallow waters (less than 10 m) that are commonly used by immature white sharks (Dewar et al., 2004; Lyons et al., 2013; White et al., 2019).

Even if our results suggest a relatively high spatial overlap between fishing activities and white shark distribution, it seems than temporal overlap is shorter in time. The number of sharks detected in the array was higher during months with smaller interaction of white sharks with artisanal fisheries, indicating a smaller interaction than previously thought. These results could be, again, explained by a more extensive monitoring time of sharks tagged at California compared with white sharks tagged in Mexico but also could be due to differences in the probability of being incidentally caught due to temporal shifts of fishing gears used and ontogenetic susceptibility. Immature white sharks are commonly caught during late spring and summer in BSV when we found less residency and when the use of gillnets is higher (Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Oñate-González et al., 2017; García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020). During the fall, some fishers switch to using traps when the lobster season stars (García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020), so this change in the use of fishing gears could explain the lower incidental catches during the period with higher residence and number of sharks detected. In the Northeastern Pacific, it has been hypothesized that pregnant females gave birth in coastal areas of the Baja peninsula during summer when the interaction of smaller white sharks with fishing activities is higher (Domeier & Nasby-Lucas, 2013; García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020). In this region, these smaller sharks are incidentally caught with when targeting demersal bony fishes using gillnets with a mesh size of 20-25 cm (Lyons et al., 2013; Ramírez-Amaro et al., 2013; García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020) and most of the catches come from young of the year sharks (Lowe et al., 2012; Oñate-González et al., 2017). It is possible that smaller sharks (newborn and young of the year) present during the summer in BSV are more likely to die if they get entangled due to their size, while larger sharks (juveniles), either born in California or BSV, could be able to break through nets (Oñate-González et al., 2017; pers. obs.). White sharks could grow around 20 cm in their first year of life (Cailliet et al., 1985), so sharks born during the summer in BSV and sharks coming from California during the fall and winter could be less vulnerable to die if they got entangled in these months when there is a shift in the use of fishing gears. If this hypothesis is correct, the degree of interaction with artisanal fisheries could be smaller than previously thought with less interaction when there is a higher presence of sharks in the area. However, these sharks will still be vulnerable to be incidentally caught during their firsts four or five years of life and if shifts in fishing practices occur in the future, the vulnerability of white sharks to being incidentally caught could change, highlighting the importance of monitoring artisanal fisheries in BSV. A better understanding of the spatial use of BSV during summer could help to focus suggested management actions, like decreasing soaking time or changes in fishing gears (García-Rodríguez & Sosa Nishizaki, 2020), that helps to decrease fishing mortality.

In summary, BSV is used by all life stages of immature white sharks indistinctly of their origin, with higher presence and residence in fall and winter, highlighting the importance of BSV for sharks from both nursery areas. Future research should focus on confirming if there is sex segregation of male sharks from California using the area more constantly than sharks born at BSV, or if this is influenced for a more extended monitoring period of sharks tagged at California. The habitat of Ojo de Liebre lagoon seems to be essential for large sharks (<175 cm) in winter and early spring (indistinctly of the origin) when incursions last longer than other months. These results could help to the adjustment of existing conservation actions focused on decreasing fishing mortality. Future research should focus on the importance of other coastal lagoons and their surrounding waters along the coast of the Baja peninsula as potential nursery areas for the species, especially if the hypothesis that the population number in the NEP is increasing. Also, future studies should aim to understand how regional and global changes could drive movements of immature white sharks and, specifically, how these phenomena could affect the nursery habitat that BSV provides to this species.

4.1 Introduction

Most shark species are considered top predators occupying high trophic levels (Cortés, 1999). Some of these species are highly migratory and move between coastal and pelagic habitats through ontogeny, with different life stages using distinct habitats as nurseries, or for feeding, mating, or parturition purposes (Heupel et al., 2007; Block et al., 2011; Domeier & Nasby Lucas, 2013; Carlisle et al., 2015a; Nasby-Lucas et al., 2019; Nosal et al., 2019). Habitat changes are commonly accompanied by ontogenetic switches in diet (Malpica-Cruz et al., 2013; Carlisle et al., 2015b; Estupiñan-Montaño et al., 2019; Matich et al., 2019). Characterizing the trophic relationships of sharks in each habitat used throughout their life cycle is needed for understanding their ecological role in each ecosystem.

Adult white sharks are distributed mostly in offshore areas, including oceanic islands (Klimley et al., 1992; Domeier & Nasby-Lucas, 2007; Jorgensen et al., 2010; Francis et al., 2015; Boldrocchi et al., 2017; Skomal et al., 2017; Moro et al., 2019), while juveniles occupy coastal areas as nurseries (Bruce & Bradford, 2012; Harasti et al., 2017; Curtis et al., 2018; Bruce et al., 2019). In the Northeastern Pacific, the early life stages of white sharks (newborn, YOY, and juveniles) occupy coastal areas until they become sub-adults, and can migrate between spatially separate nurseries (Dewar et al., 2004; Weng et al., 2007; 2012; Lowe et al., 2012; Oñate-González et al., 2017; White et al., 2019). These nurseries harbor high food abundance, allowing younger white sharks to grow faster, and are crucial for their juvenile survival and recruitment to adult aggregations and population growth (Heupel et al., 2007; Mollet & Calliet 2002).

The white shark is a top predator that exhibits ontogenetic changes in its feeding habits and habitat use (Estrada et al., 2006; Kim et al., 2012; Carlisle et al., 2012; French et al., 2018). Whereas adult white sharks feeding habits have been widely studied, dietary information for the early life stages is still scarce (Santana-Morales et al. 2012; Huveneers et al., 2018; Tamburin et al., 2020). Juveniles shift their diet from feeding on smaller bony fishes and elasmobranchs (mainly rays) to larger fishes as they grow. After becoming sub-adults, white sharks start to feed on marine mammals (Tricas & McCosker, 1984; Estrada et al., 2006; Hussey et al., 2012; Malpica-Cruz et al., 2013).

Vizcaino Bay (BSV) is located on the western coast of the Baja California Peninsula, Mexico. This bay has been confirmed as a natal nursery area for white sharks, and is also habitat to young sharks born in the Southern California Bight, USA, about 600 km to the north (Oñate-González et al., 2017; White et al., 2019).

Although the species is under protection since 2007 in Mexican waters (DOF, 2007; 2010; 2014), they are caught incidentally in the nearshore areas of BSV as well as within Ojo de Liebre Lagoon (OLL), a semienclosed hypersaline shallow estuary that is within the bay system (García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020). These catches occur when local artisanal fishers target high-value species that are part of the white shark's diet (Santana-Morales et al., 2012, García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020).

The potential competition between artisanal fisheries and white sharks could have an effect on the conservation of this species in this nursery area. For top predators like turtles, birds and marine mammals, it has been well documented that this competition could have negative effects on their abundance by limiting the spatial availability of prey (Huss et al., 2014; Hillborn et al., 2017; Hansson et al., 2018). For example, a switch in diet as result of prey overfishing has been reported for the spiny dogfish *Squalus acanthias* (Koen Alonso et al. 2002). Also, a high overlap between target fishery species and shark prey has been documented for the spiny dogfish (Lucifora et al., 2009). In sand tiger sharks (*Carcharias taurus*), the spatial overlap between the prey and fisheries was shown to increase their vulnerability to overfishing (Graĉan et al., 2017). Changes in prey availability as an effect of overlap with fisheries in nursery areas could decrease the benefits that these nurseries provide for early life stages of sharks, potentially changing their diets and limiting their growth.

Interspecific competition between young white sharks and sympatric shark species that inhabit BSV, like smooth hammerheads *Sphyrna zygaena* or Carcharhinids, could also occur. Previous studies report resource partitioning in communal areas to reduce interspecific competition, which could cause changes in distribution between sympatric shark species with high overlap in their diets (Bethea et al., 2004; Papastamatiou et al. 2006; Kinney et al. 2011). Hence, limitation in prey availability due to fisheries could thus increase the competition between shark species. The description of the trophic relationships between white sharks, their prey, and sympatric species that may compete for feeding resources will help to understand their ecological role in the nursery habitat provided by BSV.

Quantitative diet composition estimates are based on stomach content analysis, providing a basis for understanding a species' prey spectrum and its overall trophic ecology, including trophic level (Cortés, 1999; Bizzarro et al. 2017). Nevertheless, stomach content analysis has several constraints, since it is labor-intensive and highly invasive or lethal, with limited spatial resolution unless ambitious sampling efforts are implemented and provide only a snapshot of what a shark has eaten most recently. This approach often requires a very high sample size to quantify diet variation across a population, and can lead to a limited interpretation of their trophic ecology (Hussey et al., 2012; Munroe et al., 2018).

Bulk stable isotope analysis (SIA) of soft tissues provides information that complements that obtained through stomach content analysis by providing integrated spatio-temporal insight into trophic relationships and energy fluxes in marine ecosystems (Michener & Kauffman, 2007; Boecklen et al., 2011). Different tissues reflect the isotopic composition of prey consumed over time; tissues with higher isotope turnover rates (i. e. blood) reflecting diets faster than those with lower turnover rates (i.e., muscle) (Logan & Lutcave, 2010; Malpica-Cruz et al., 2012; Hussey et al., 2012). The rate of isotopic turnover should be considered when interpreting SIA ratios in sharks (Kim et al., 2012; Malpica-Cruz et al. 2012). δ^{13} C values provide information regarding the dominant sources of primary production, which vary between habitat types as well as between benthic and pelagic food webs. Thus, δ^{13} C values can be used to trace shark habitat shifts, particularly between coastal and oceanic ecosystems, as well as distinguishing between benthic vs. pelagic feeding (Finlay & Kendall, 2007; Munroe et al., 2019). Due to a consistent enrichment in δ^{15} N between a consumer and its assimilated diet, δ^{15} N values have been used to estimate trophic levels and characterize ontogenetic shifts in trophic level (Peterson & Fry, 1987; Post, 2002). Given prior knowledge regarding a consumer's feeding habits and an adequate characterization of the spatiotemporal scales of isotopic variability of the isotopic baseline (Phillips et al. 2014), SIA are also useful for estimating the contribution of different sources to a consumer's diet (Parnell et al. 2013). Likewise, isotopic ratios provide ecological information about individuals and communities, and can be used to characterize the isotopic niche, which is a reflective of a consumer's trophic niche and can be used to estimate the overlap in resources between different populations, life stages or species (Jackson et al. 2011, Hette-Tronquart 2019, Marshall et al. 2019).

Recently, the use of compound-specific stable isotope analysis of amino acids (CSIA-AA) has been proposed as a more robust method to understand several fish species' trophic ecology. Some AAs are not significantly enriched in ¹⁵N between consumer and their foods (and are thereby termed "source AA,") while others exhibited a high and consistent enrichment (and are therefore considered "trophic AA"; Chikaraishi et al., 2009, O'Conell 2017). These analyses are advantageous because a single tissue contains both kinds of AA, allowing for the calculation of trophic position and inferring of foraging patterns without the need for an independent characterization of an isotopic baseline (Chikaraishi et al., 2010; Hoen et al., 2014; Munroe et al., 2018)

To understand the trophic ecology of the early life stages of white sharks in the BSV-OLL nursery, we used bulk SIA and CSIA-AA of shark muscle to estimate the contribution of different prey groups to the diet of juvenile white sharks, assess ontogenetic shifts in their diet, infer movements between habitats and estimate trophic level. We also infer the level of dietary overlap with sympatric shark species that also feed within the bay, evaluating the potential for competition for dietary sources with local fisheries and sympatric species. The study provides for information the development of environmentally sound management and conservation strategies in the area.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Sample collection

Muscle samples (1 cm³) from the dorsal area of white sharks were collected between 2013 to 2017 either in BSV or outside of BSV (OBSV), off the northwestern coast of the Baja peninsula between Santa Rosalillita and Tijuana (Figure 15). Samples were obtained opportunistically from white sharks caught incidentally by artisanal fisheries and from individuals tagged within BSV. For all sharks sampled inside BSV, total length (TL) and sex were recorded. Based on their size, sharks were divided into three life stages: newborn (NB; less than 150 cm TL), young of the year (YOY; between 151-175 cm TL), and juveniles (JUV; larger than 175 cm TL). Although sharks sampled at OBSV were not measured because local fishers provided samples, they estimated their size > 175 cm TL and were therefore categorized as juveniles.

As mentioned before, isotopic turnover rates should be considered when interpreting SIA ratios in sharks (Kim et al., 2012; Malpica-Cruz et al. 2012). Steady state between isotopic composition from muscle tissue and diet for sharks has been estimated to be reached after several months or even years, with younger individuals reaching this equilibrium faster than older ones (Logan & Lutcave, 2010; Kim et al. 2012; Malpica-Cruz et al., 2012). For juvenile white sharks in BSV, Malpica-Cruz et al. (2013) reported that blood and muscle tissues are in isotopic equilibrium suggesting that muscle is reflecting local foraging ground. Our interpretation of the stable isotope ratios of immature white sharks sampled in BSV is based on this assumption.

Muscle tissue samples (1 cm³) from demersal species (n=72), previously reported as prey for juvenile white sharks in BSV by Santana-Morales et al. (2012), were collected from fishing activities in BSV during summer of 2016. Individuals sampled were caught in waters near the mouth of OLL. Potential prey sampled were white seabass *Atractoscion nobilis*, California halibut *Paralichthys californicus*, California bat ray *Myliobatis californica*, California butterfly ray *Gymnura marmorata*, diamond stingray *Hypanus dipterururs*, and

shovelnose guitarfish *Pseudobatos productus* (Table 10). Shovelnose guitarfish were selected because it is the most abundant demersal elasmobranch in the area.



Figure 15. Areas of the Baja California peninsula where white shark muscle samples were collected. BSV = Vizcaino Bay. OBSV = Outside Vizcaino Bay.

4.2.2 Sample preparation for bulk isotope and CSIA- AA analysis

White shark samples, as well as elasmobranch prey and sympatric sharks, were lipid and urea extracted as previously recommended for bulk SIA (Li et al. 2016, Carlisle et al. 2017), following the methods of Kim & Koch (2012) and Carlisle et al. (2015). Briefly, tissue samples were soaked in petroleum ether and mixed in a vortex mixer. After letting the samples dry uncapped for eight hours, they were centrifugated for 10 min. Samples were rinsed in 10 ml of DIW and mixed in a vortex mixer. Samples were centrifugated after 30 min. Following the extraction, samples were dried in an oven at 60 °C for 24 hr. Subsequently, 0.8-1.2 mg were included in a tin capsule for shipment to the laboratory. Samples were analyzed at the Stable

Isotope Facility at the University of California Davis (SIA-UCD) using a PDZ Europa ANCA-GSL elemental analyzer interfaced to a PDZ Europa 20-20 isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Sercon Ltd., Cheshire, UK). Analytical precision for laboratory standards, bovine liver, glutamic acid, enriched alanine and nylon 6, was 0.06‰, 0.06‰, 0.06‰, and 0.05‰ for δ^{15} N, respectively, and 0.06‰, 0.1‰, 0.07‰, and 0.08‰ for δ^{13} C, respectively.

For CSIA-AA analysis, white shark samples were directly dried in an oven for 24 h at 60°, as recommended by Hoen et al. (2014). Between 7-10 mg of dry sample was weighed and stored in pre-combusted 5 ml glass vials. Samples were analyzed at SIF-UCD with a Trace Ultra GC gas chromatography coupled to Thermo Delta V Plus through a GC IsoLink, following protocols described by Yarnes & Herszage (2017). Each sample was analyzed in triplicate.

Stable isotope values are expressed in standard delta notation (δ). For δ^{15} N values, atmospheric nitrogen was used as a standard, while the Vienna Pee Dee Belemnite (VPDB) standard was used for δ^{13} C. Units are in parts per thousand (‰):

$$\delta^{15} N (\%) = ([R_{sample}/R_{standard}] - 1) \times 10^3$$
(1)

Where R is the isotope ratio (^{15}N : ^{14}N or ^{13}C : ^{12}C).

Differences in mean δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C between life stages (NB vs. YOY vs. Juveniles) were estimated using oneway ANOVA with Tukey *post-hoc* test, while differences between areas (juveniles inside and outside BSV) were estimated using Kruskal-Wallis because normality was not met (tested with Shapiro-Wilk test).

4.2.3 Trophic relationships between white sharks and potential prey

To estimate the relative contribution of potential prey inside BSV to the diet of immature white sharks sampled in BSV, we categorize them into three groups depending on their habitat: *demersal, pelagic, and offshore* habitat species. Isotopic values of potential prey sampled in this study (see section 4.2.1) were categorized as *demersal* habitat (Table 10). For the *pelagic* and *offshore* habitats, we used the δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N values published by Tamburin et al. (2019, 2020) from potential prey of immature white sharks sampled in the BSV region (Table 10). Overall mean ± standard deviation (SD) for each habitat was used as input for mixing models.

Bayesian mixing models (Parnell et al. 2013) were used to estimate the contribution of the prey from each habitat to the diet of white sharks sampled in BSV. Analyses were performed using *simmr* package (Parnell & Inger, 2019) in R. Models were run with uninformed priors, four Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) chains, with 1000 burn-in and 10,000 iterations. We used the empirically derived trophic enrichment factors (TEF) reported for shark muscle estimated in controlled feeding experiments by Kim et al. (2012) and Malpica et al. (2012). TEF values from those studies were averaged for their use in mixing models ($\Delta \delta^{13}$ C = 1.3 ± 0.5 ‰; $\Delta \delta^{15}$ N = 3.0 ± 0.9 ‰). An abrupt increase in δ^{15} N was reported for immature white sharks larger than 170 cm in BSV (Malpica-Cruz et al., 2013), so smaller sharks (newborns and young of the year) were grouped for mixing models. Each habitat's contribution was estimated for this combined group and for juveniles. Results are reported as the percent contribution of each prey group with 95% credibility intervals.

4.2.4 Isotopic niche overlap with sympatric species

The isotopic niche was estimated as the standard ellipse area (SEAc; Jackson et al. 2011). White sharks and two other shark species found in BSV were included in the analysis: smooth hammerheads and copper sharks. Smooth hammerheads were categorized into three groups based on their size (Table 10). This categorization was designed to match the sizes of the life stages considered in this study for immature white sharks. The three groups were newborns (60-85 cm TL), small juvenile (103-147 cm TL) that have similar sizes to newborns white sharks and large juveniles (151-183 cm TL) with similar sizes to YOY white sharks. The level of isotopic niche overlap between life stages of white sharks (newborn, YOY, and juvenile caught inside and outside BSV) and between sympatric shark species was estimated. Analyses were done using the *SIBER* package in R.

4.2.5 Estimation of trophic position

Trophic position was estimated using CSIA-AA based on two equations, the one proposed by Chikaraishi et al. (2009):

$$TP = \frac{\left(\delta\delta^{15}N_{glu} - \delta^{15}N_{phe} - \beta\right)}{TEF} + 1$$
⁽²⁾

Where $\delta^{15}N_{glu}$ (the canonical trophic AA) and $\delta^{15}N_{phe}$ (the canonical source AA) indicate the $\delta^{15}N$ values for glutamic acid and phenylalanine in the consumer tissues, respectively. β is the difference between the $\delta^{15}N$ values of trophic and source AAs in primary producers (3.4± 0.9‰, Chikaraishi et al. 2009), and TEF is the trophic enrichment factor. Also, we used a modification of the Hoen et al. (2014) equation that uses an integrated TEF that accounts for the differences in fractionation between grazers and carnivores, which is relevant for sharks, since there could be differences in fractionation compared to grazers due to differences in the quality or quantity of proteins in diet:

$$TP = \frac{(\delta^{15}N_{glu} - \delta^{15}N_{phe}) - \beta - TEF_{herbivore}}{TEF_{carnivore}} + 2$$
(3)

Where the $\text{TEF}_{\text{herbivore}}$ is equal to 7.6‰ and the $\text{TEF}_{\text{carnivore}}$ is <7.6‰. TDF and TEF previously reported for zooplankton and fishes (Chikarashi et al., 2009) and for sharks based on controlled experiments (Hoen et al., 2014) were used (7.6 ‰ and 2.8 ‰, respectively) for TP estimations.

4.3 Results

Muscle tissue samples from 39 immature white sharks were obtained, of which 12 were from newborns, 13 from young of the year, and six from juveniles sampled inside BSV, and an additional 8 were from juveniles from areas outside BSV. Values for white sharks sampled in BSV ranged from -17.8 to -15.5‰ for δ^{13} C (-16.7 ±0.6‰ mean ± SD) and from 16.4 to 18.7‰ for δ^{15} N (17.5 ±0.6‰). Muscle samples from YOY and juveniles were slightly enriched in δ^{13} C (0.5‰ and 0.8 ‰) and δ^{15} N (0.2 ‰ and 0.8 ‰) compared with NB (Figure 16, Table 8). There were significant differences in mean δ^{15} N values between NB and YOY compared with juveniles (one-way ANOVA, p=0.02 and p=0.03) but not between NB and YOY (p=0.91). There were significant differences in mean δ^{13} C values between NB and the other life stages (p=0.01). We did not find significant differences in the mean C or N isotopic composition for juveniles caught within and outside BSV (Kruskal-Wallis, p=0.2 and p=0.7, respectively).

Muscle tissue from demersal prey showed high intraspecific variability in $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{13}C$ values. The highest variability (SD) in $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{13}C$ between demersal species were estimated for bat rays (2.8 ‰) and California halibut (2.2 ‰) respectively (Table 9). However, the overall variability for the *demersal* habitat was small (0.8 for both $\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{13}C$). White seabass and diamond stingray had higher $\delta^{15}N$ values (0.3 and 2.9 ‰ more enriched in ^{15}N) than the other demersal species (Table 9). The mean isotopic composition

of the prey that were classified to *demersal* habitat were enriched in ¹³C (0.8 ‰) compared with those from the *pelagic* habitat, but the later habitat was slightly enriched in ¹⁵N (0.2 ‰). Compared worth the offshore habitat, *demersal* prey species were enriched in ¹³C and ¹⁵N (2.46 ‰ and 3.75 ‰; Table 9).

δ¹³C (‰) δ¹⁵N (‰) Life stage **Total length** n (cm) Mean SD Mean SD Newborn 12 138-150 -17.1* 0.6 17.3* 0.3 Young of the year -16.6 0.7 17.4* 0.7 13 152-170 Juvenile 6 173-201 -16.2 0.2 18.1 0.3 Juvenile OBSV 8 176-300 -16.5 0.6 17.9 1.1

Table 8. Isotopic values for different life stages of immature white sharks collected in Vizcaino Bay and the northern part of the Baja California peninsula. OBSV: Outside Vizcaino Bay

*Indicates significant differences between life stages tested with one-way ANOVA and Tukey post hoc test. Differences between juveniles inside BSV and OBSV were tested with Kruskal-Wallis test. Significance level is 0.01



Figure 16. Mean carbon and nitrogen stable isotope ratios (±SD) measured in the muscle tissues of immature white sharks sampled in Vizcaino Bay and the northern part of the Baja California peninsula. Isotopic values are reported as a function of life stage: newborn (<150 cm TL), young of the year (between 151-170 cm TL), and juveniles (<171 cm TL). TL, total length.

Habitat	Common name	Species	n	TL (cm)	δ ¹³ C (SD)	δ ¹⁵ N (SD)
Demersal	Bat ray	Myliobatis californica	10	56-74*	-16.4 (0.7)	14.4 (2.8)
	Butterfly ray	Gymnura marmorata	10	76-94 *	-15.4 (0.6)	14.7 (1.7)
	Diamond stingray	Hypanus dipterururs	10	66-78*	-16.2 (1.1)	16.1 (1.6)
	Shovelnose	Pseudobatos productus	22	76-96	-16.6 (1.3)	15.3 (2.0)
	guitarfish					
	California halibut	Paralichthys californicus	10	53-78	-15.2 (2.2)	13.6 (2.1)
	White seabass	Atractoscion nobilis	10	49-85	-16.6 (0.6)	16.5 (1.9)
	Habitat mean				-16.8 (0.8)	15.8 (0.8)
Pelagic	Pacific mackerel*	Scomber japonicus			-17.8 (0.6)	15.7 (0.9)
	Corvinas*	Cynoscion spp.			-16.3 (0.7)	16.3 (1.0)
	Needlefish*	<i>Tylosurus</i> spp.			-18.0 (0.1)	18.3 (0.1)
	Sea robins*	Prionotus spp.			-18.0 (1.5)	15.5 (0.8)
	Dolphinfishes*	Coryphaena spp.			-18.6 (0)	13.4 (0)
	Squid*	Unid. spp.			-17.7 (1.3)	12.7 (2.5)
	Habitat mean				-17.6 (0.3)	16.0 (0.7)
Offshore	Pacific saury*	Cololabis saira			-19.7 (0.5)	10.7 (1.5)
	Lanternfish*	Myctophidae			-20.1 (0.5)	12.2 (0.7)
	Pacific mackerel*	Scomber japonicus			-18.6 (0.1)	14.6 (0.2)
	Jack mackerel*	Trachurus symmetricus			-19.4 (0)	12.2 (0)
	Halfbeak*	Hyporhampus naos			-19.2 (0.2)	8.6 (0.3)
	Pelagic triggerfish*	Canthidermis spp.			-20.1 (0)	11.1 (0)
	Flyingfish*	Exocoetidae			-20.1 (0)	12.4 (0)
	Humboldt squid*	Dosidicus gigas			-19.4 (0.2)	13.1 (0.6)
	Pelagic octopus*	Ocythoe tuberculata			-19.3 (0.9)	13.7 (1.9)
	Pelagic red crab*	Pleuroncodes planipes			-19.0 (0.9)	11.6 (0.9)
	Sardine*	Sardinops sagax			-19.8 (0.2)	13.6 (0.6)
	Habitat mean				-19.3 (0.7)	12.1 (1.5)

Table 9. Isotopic values of potential prey of immature white sharks used in mixing models. Values are means ± one standard deviation (SD).

*Values taken from Tamburin et al. (2019) ** Disc width (cm). All isotopic values are in ‰.

Bayesian mixing models indicate that demersal prey species provide the higher contribution to muscle in NB/YOY (44.5%; C.I. 97.5%: 16.0-66.5%) and juveniles (47.5%; C.I. 97.5%: 9.0-81.0%) (Figure 17), followed by offshore habitat in NB/YOY (30.5%; C.I. 97.5%: 20.9-39.6%) and pelagic habitat in juveniles (37.4%; C.I. 97.5%: 6.1-75.9%).



Figure 17. Contribution of prey from different habitats to the isotopic composition of the muscle tissue of immature white sharks sampled along the western coast of the Baja California peninsula. YOY= young of the year, NB = newborn, JUV = juvenile white sharks.

Isotopic niche analysis showed that juveniles OBSV had the broadest isotopic niche (SEAc =2.45) of all white shark groups, followed by BSV YOY (SEAc = 1.51), NB (SEAc = 0.65), and juveniles (SEAc= 0.38). The highest overlap between isotopic niches was between YOY and juveniles OBSV (57.4%), while juveniles sampled in BSV had the smallest overlap with the other groups (< 25%) (Figure 18).



Figure 18. Standardized ellipse of isotopic niches of immature white sharks sampled along the western coast of the Baja California peninsula. NB = newborn, YOY = young of the year, JUV = juvenile collected within Vizcaino Bay, and OBSV = juveniles outside Vizcaino Bay.

Regarding sympatric shark species, in smooth hammerheads, δ^{15} N values ranged from 14.9 to 20.1 ‰ and δ^{13} C values from -14.2 to -18.0 ‰ (Table 10). Mean values of δ^{15} N from larger hammerheads were enriched compared with newborns (1.7 ‰) and small juveniles (1.5 ‰). For δ^{13} C, mean values from larger hammerhead were slightly depleted than for the other groups (1.0 ‰ and 0.4 ‰) (Figure 19, Table 10). For copper sharks, δ^{15} N values ranged from 16.5 to 20.4‰ and δ^{13} C between -17.1 to -14.4‰ (Table 10). Muscle tissue from copper sharks were enriched in δ^{13} C compared with hammerheads (1.1 ‰ to 2.1 ‰). For δ^{15} N (1.1 ‰), comparison followed the same pattern, except that large hammerheads were slightly enriched (0.6 ‰) than copper sharks.



Figure 19. Mean carbon and nitrogen stable isotope ratios (±SD) measured in the muscle of immature white sharks, smooth hammerheads, dusky shark, and copper shark from Vizcaino Bay and the northern part of the Baja peninsula. NB-HMS = newborn hammerheads, SJ-HMS = small juvenile hammerheads, BJ-HMS = big juvenile hammerheads and CB = copper shark.

Fable 10. Mean isotopic value:	for size classes of hammerheads	and copper sharks on \	/izcaino Bay.
--------------------------------	---------------------------------	------------------------	---------------

Species	n	Total length (cm)	¹³ C (‰) ¹⁵ N (%		¹⁵ N (‰)	
			Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Newborn hammerhead	13	60-85	-16.3	0.7	17.2	0.4
Small juvenile hammerhead	29	103-147	-16.9	0.8	17.4	0.8
Large juvenile hammerhead	21	151-183	-17.3	0.3	18.9	0.9
Copper shark	17	102-304	-15.2	0.8	18.3	1.0
Copper shark	17	102-304	-15.2	0.8	18.3	1.0

SIBER results showed that between sympatric shark species, immature white sharks had the smallest isotopic niche, while copper shark had the highest. The overlap between immature white sharks and hammerheads was higher (45.27%) than with copper shark (15.92%). A higher overlap was found when comparing life stages. The more extensive overlap was estimated between YOY and newborn hammerheads (55.17%), followed by the overlap between YOY and small juvenile hammerheads (54.69%) and the overlap between NB and newborn hammerheads (48.48%). The overlap with copper sharks was higher for YOY (27.55%) than for NB and juveniles from BSV (8.92 and 12.03%, respectively) (Figure 20).



Figure 20. Isotopic niches of different life stages of different size classes of immature white sharks, smooth hammerhead sharks and copper sharks sampled in Vizcaino Bay. NB = newborn white sharks, YOY = young of the year white sharks, JUV = juvenile white sharks, OBSV = juvenile white sharks outside Vizcaino Bay, NB-HMS = newborn hammerheads, SJ-HMS = small juvenile hammerheads, BJ-HMS = big juvenile hammerheads and CB = copper sharks.

Ten sharks were sampled for CSSIA-AA of ¹⁵N inside (7) and outside (3) BSV. Glutamic acid values ranged from 25.5 to 31.0‰, and phenylalanine ranged from 9.2 to 12.8‰ (Table 11). The trophic position estimated varied depending on the TDF/TEF and the equation used (Table 11).

Trophic positions were higher when the Hoen et al. (2014) equation was used (4.3 to 5.3) than with the equation of Chikaraishi et al. (2009) (2.7 to 3.0). Also, trophic position estimates were higher for sharks sampled outside BSV (3.0 to 5.3) than for sharks from inside BSV (2.7 to 4.3). Using TEF estimated for

sharks and with the equation accounting for differences in fractionation between grazers and carnivores resulted in a TP of 4.34 for sharks sampled inside BSV (Table 11).

Table 11. Trophic position (TP) for immature white sharks from Vizcaino Bay and the northern part of the Baja peninsula. The trophic enrichment factors (TEF) and trophic discrimination factors (TDF) values origin is indicated. SD= Standard deviation. ¹ Equation from Chikaraishi et al. (2009). ² Equation from Hoen et al. (2014). ³ Value from Chikaraishi et al. (2014).

Area	δ ¹⁵ N Glx (‰)	δ ¹⁵ N Phe (‰)	TDF/TEF	TP1	±SD	TP ²	±SD
BSV	27.2 ±1.2 SD	10.8 ±1.2 SD	7.6 ³ /2.8 ⁴	2.7	0.1	4.3	0.6
OBSV	29.6 ±2.3 SD	10.9 ±0.6 SD	7.6 ³ /2.8 ⁴	3.0	0.2	5.3	0.8

4.4 Discussion

Differences in δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C values found between life stages of immature white sharks indicate a shift in feeding and maternal-induced processes. Adults white sharks are known to feed in offshore areas, where the baseline is depleted in ¹³C relative to coastal and benthic habitats (Carlisle et al., 2012; Malpica et al., 2013). In the eastern Pacific, this includes oceanic islands like Guadalupe island (Jorgensen et al., 2010; Hoyos-Padilla et al., 2016). In contrast, pregnant females move to parturition grounds in coastal areas (Domeier & Nasby-Lucas, 2013; Oñate-González et al. 2015) which are enriched in ¹³C due to the predominance of benthic production (Carlisle et al., 2012; Allen et al., 2013; Tamburin et al. 2020). Our results show that the muscle tissue of newborn sharks was depleted in ¹³C compared with the following life stages. Given that very young white sharks are known to feed on benthic prey (Tricas & McCosker, 1984; Grainger et al., 2020), these results suggest the prevalence of maternal signature transferred to embryos during their gestation, as reported for other shark species with matrotrophic reproductive strategies (Estrada 2006, McMeans et al., 2009; Olin et al., 2011, 2018). By the time white sharks grew into the YOY stage in our study, this maternal influence seems to have disappeared by the enrichment in ¹³C. compared with newborns, with isotopic values similar to those of juveniles that have been reported to reflect exogenous feeding (Malpica-Cruz et al. 2013, Tamburin et al., 2020). In rapidly growing young sharks, exogenous feeding is quickly reflected in the isotopic composition of the tissues as size increases and the maternal isotopic composition is diluted (Malpica-Cruz et al. 2012). In immature white sharks, this change in isotopic composition that reflects active foraging has been reported to occur, for muscle tissue, at sizes around 170 cm TL (Malpica-Cruz et al. 2013).

Immature white sharks are known to primarily use coastal habitats, sometimes covering long distances (hundreds of kilometers) between nurseries (Dewar et al., 2004; Bruce and Bradford 2019, Harasti et al. 2012, Curtis et al. 2018). We did not find significant differences in the mean δ^{13} C or δ^{15} N between juvenile sharks caught inside and outside BSV. These results suggest that immature white sharks are feeding on prey with similar isotopic values along the western coast of the Baja California peninsula, as some sharks migrate from California, USA toward BSV in Mexico (Weng et al., 2007, 2012; White et al. 2019). However, a large variability in δ^{15} N was observed for sharks outside BSV. This variability is due to an enrichment in ¹⁵N in larger juveniles (around 300 cm TL), that could be related with a shift in diet to feed on larger prey in coastal areas, like large bony fishes and marine mammals, as has been previously reported for the species (Carlisle et al., 2012; Hussey et al., 2012).

Changes in the estimates of prey contribution from different habitats to white shark tissues between life stages indicate shifts in feeding and habitat use. Mixing models results showed that for all life stages, most of the isotopic composition of the immature white shark muscle was attributed to demersal prey, similar to what has been reported regarding the juvenile white shark's diet based on stomach contents analysis (Tricas & McCosker 1984, Santana-Morales et al. 2012; Grainger et al., 2020) and for BSV where the most common items usually found are rays (mostly bat rays; Santana-Morales et al. 2012; pers. obs.; Chris Lowe, pers. comm.). However, the contributing of demersal prey changed between life stages.

For juvenile white sharks, the contribution of pelagic prey (37%) was larger than for newborn/YOY (25%). Previous feeding studies in juvenile white sharks report a diet based on demersal species, but also report the presence of pelagic prey like sardines, mackerel, pelagic sharks and cephalopods that become more important in bigger juveniles larger than 185 cm TL (Tricas & McCosker, 1984; Hussey et al., 2012. In BSV, also has been reported the presence of sardines and squids in stomach contents of immature white sharks (Santana-Morales et al., 2012) and preliminary tagging results show that immature white sharks move from very nearshore areas, as the Ojo de Liebre lagoon, to areas farther from the coastline inside BSV, where they might feed on pelagic species. Vizcaino Bay is an important feeding and nursery region for a large variety of pelagic and demersal species (Hernández-Rivas et al., 2000) suggesting that could sustain large prey availability for immature white sharks. The higher contribution from demersal and pelagic prey to the isotopic composition of immature white sharks confirms the importance of BSV as a nursery for this species since it provides one of the benefits from these nurseries, feeding grounds for their first life stages.

A higher contribution of prey from offshore habitats for neonates and YOY (31%) than for juveniles (14%) was also estimated, suggesting that the maternal isotopic composition may still have been detectable in

some of these smaller sharks. The small contribution of this offshore prey in juveniles could imply that this life stage could actively move outside nurseries and forage in other areas along California and Baja California coasts. Even if juvenile white sharks commonly select habitats close to land (<30 km from the coast; White et al., 2019), some of these sharks could move to offshore areas as far as 1,350 km from mainland coast in the US and Mexico (Weng et al., 2012). Satellite telemetry has revealed that juvenile white sharks from California migrate to areas along the coast of Baja California and even into the Gulf of California (Weng et al., 2007; Weng et al. 2012; White et al., 2019), where offshore and pelagic prey could be an important dietary component during the migrations.

Tamburin et al. (2020) sampled muscle tissue for SIA from immature white sharks in OLL and other areas inside BSV and from potential prey from different habitats (including prey from Guadalupe Island) between 2015-2018. These authors found a higher contribution of offshore prey to the isotopic composition of muscle from neonates and YOY and they associate it to the prevalence of a maternal derived isotopic signature. They also found a higher proportion of inshore pelagic species in tissues from juvenile white sharks, proposing that these species are more important than previous studies have reported (Malpica-Cruz et al., 2013; Santana-Morales et al. 2012). Their findings are contrary to our results, where we found a higher contribution from demersal prey to the isotopic composition of immature white sharks and that are consistent to a more benthic foraging previously reported (Tricas & McCosker, 1984; Hussey et al., 2012; Grainger et al., 2020). Besides, a large portion of Tamburin et al. (2020) samples were taken inside the Ojo de Liebre lagoon during march, when juveniles (larger than 175 cm TL), either from California or BSV, enter into this habitat (Chapter 3). These juvenile white sharks could be migrating between the Southern California Bight and BSV. Unpublished data from Lowe et al. indicate that some acoustically tagged immature white sharks exhibit repeated annual migration between California and Baja California waters. These migrating sharks could be feeding on coastal pelagic species with different isotopic composition during these habitat transitions, as the high variability in the isotopic composition of sharks caught outside of BSV suggest.

In our study, all of the demersal prey samples were collected near the mouth of the Ojo de Liebre Lagoon, which is a high-intensity fishing area where most of the incidental catches of immature white sharks occurs (García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki 2020), and where these sharks are present during all year according with acoustic telemetry data (Chapter 3). Based on information from satellite transmitters, White et al. (2019) predicted that juvenile individuals select shallow areas (>1000 m deep), close to the shore (>30 km from the coast) in water between 14 to 24° C. According to their results, BSV, including the Ojo de Liebre lagoon, is environmentally suitable year-round for immature white sharks, while other coastal areas along

the west coast of the Baja California peninsula are temporarily suitable. Coastal habitats near lagoons like San Ignacio and San Quintin Bay are suitable mostly during summer and summer-fall respectively (White et al., 2019). Incidental catches of immature white sharks have been reported for San Ignacio lagoon during summer (Rochín-Alamillo, 2011) and unpublished data from a juvenile shark tagged in BSV with a satellite transmitter showed that this individual moved from BSV to areas near the San Quintin Bay where it was incidentally caught in summer. Immature white sharks seem to enter these lagoon and estuary habitats to take advantage of seasonal prey availability (Harasti et al. 2018, Chapter 3). Coastal lagoons along the Baja California peninsula and their inlet areas, presents high abundance of known prey (Daneman & de la Cruz-Agüero, 1993; De la Cruz-Agüero et al., 1994; Rosales-Casián, 1996) and seasonal environmental suitability (White et al., 2019) for immature white sharks. These conditions and the confirmed presence of white sharks incidentally caught when fishers target these prey species (Rochín-Alamillo, 2011) could suggest that coastal lagoons and their inlet areas could potentially provide benefits commonly associated with nursery areas for white sharks moving outside known nurseries in California and Mexico.

According to ecological knowledge from artisanal fishers, shovelnose guitarfishes and diamond stingray are found all year in BSV waters, while California bat rays, butterfly rays and demersal bony fishes like halibut and white seabass are found seasonally in the area (García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki 2020). The presence of potential prey throughout the year confirms the high food availability that would in turn support the importance of this Bay for the development of this species' early life stages.

In BSV, immature white sharks are caught mostly during summer, when some of the demersal species they feed on are targeted by the local artisanal fishery (Oñate-González et al., 2017; García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020). The California halibut, white seabass, and ray landings represent around 30% of the total yearly landings from bony fishes in the area (CONAPESCA, 2018). Any change of fishing effort directed to these demersal species might change the white shark susceptibility to being incidentally caught. Overfishing might affect immature white shark' feeding habits, movements, and habitat shifts. These relationships highlight the importance of monitoring potential prey and the fishing effort applied to them, and to assess their populations along with white shark monitoring.

The comparison of SEAc between life stages showed that juveniles outside BSV have a broader isotopic niche, supported by their movements between California and Baja California (Weng et al., 2007; 2012; White et al. 2019). YOY and NB likely have smaller isotopic niches because their activities are more restricted inside the BSV areas. Surprisingly, juveniles inside BSV had the narrowest isotopic niche, but this could be due to the small sample size number that is not sufficiently representative of this life stage

(Jackson et al. 2011). Many samples were obtained with the help of artisanal fisheries monitoring efforts, so the smaller sample size we obtained is mostly due to the lower susceptibility of juvenile white sharks (larger than 175 cm) to be caught incidentally in demersal bottom nets compared with newborns and YOYs (Oñate-González et al. 2017; García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki 2020). There was partial overlap in the isotopic niche between all life stages, but the highest was between juveniles OBSV and YOY. Sharks sampled outside BSV could have been born in BSV or the Southern California Bight, but as they increase in size, they can move between nurseries and spend some months of the year in BSV, where they could feed on similar habitats or resources with similar isotopic composition than the ones smaller white sharks are feeding on.

Comparisons in isotopic niches between sympatric species showed that immature white sharks and smooth hammerheads had a 45% overlap in their isotopic niches and this overlap was higher between YOY white sharks and small juvenile hammerheads (103-147 cm), suggesting that they could be feeding on some resources with similar isotopic composition. Juvenile smooth hammerheads feed mostly on squid, small pelagic fishes like scombrids and benthic bony fishes (Smale, 1991; Ochoa, 2009), which are also prey found in the stomachs of juvenile white sharks collected in BSV (Santana-Morales et al., 2012). In contrast, there was a limited (15%) isotopic overlap with copper sharks. Based on what has been reported as their food habits in other areas, copper sharks in BSV may be feeding on many of the same pelagic species consumed by white sharks, like sardines, mackerels, skipjacks, and tunas (Smale, 1991; Santana-Morales et al., 2012). However, copper sharks are not caught all year in BSV, only in late spring and summer when it has been hypothesized that white sharks are born (Domeier & Nasby-Lucas, 2013) and when they are incidentally caught (Oñate-González et al., 2017; García-Rodríguez 6 Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020). Besides, coper sharks have a more tropical distribution than white sharks, so they may be feeding seasonally on different prey or in foraging grounds with a distinct isotopic composition. In addition, some of the copper shark we sampled were larger and spanned the adult stages, which could contribute to a broader isotopic niche. A partial overlap in the isotopic niche was reported between juvenile white sharks and juvenile makos in BSV (Tamburin et al., 2019). However, makos have been reported to feed on more pelagic prey like Pacific saury and jumbo squid off California coast (Pretti et al. 2012). This partial overlap with makos, along with the higher overlap in the smaller life stages of immature white sharks and juvenile smooth hammerheads found in this study does not necessarily mean that they are competing for resources but feeding on similar foraging grounds and preys with similar isotopic composition. When different shark species share feeding grounds, resource partitioning and spatial segregation could be a strategy to avoid competition (Bethea et al., 2004; Kinney et al., 2011). However, if prey abundance changes in the future, competition for resources with sympatric species could occur, which highlights the importance of monitoring the population trend of prey along with the white shark population and other potential competitors. This overlap with sympatric species highlights the importance of BSV as a foraging ground with high prey availability for different shark species.

As expected, trophic positions varied depending on the TDF/TEF used. Using the TDF estimated for cultured algae, zooplankton and fish (Chikaraishi et al., 2009), the TP for juvenile white shark was subestimated (<3). It has been reported that sharks have lower TEF than other planktivorous and carnivorous teleost due to lower discrimination because of their diets (Hoen et al., 2014). We found that using the TEF estimated for sharks along with the equation accounting for differences in discrimination between grazers and carnivores (Hoen et al., 2014), TP (4.3-5.3) were similar to those previously reported for white sharks of similar sizes, that were estimated using stomach content or bulk stable isotope analysis (Cortés, 1999; Estrada et al., 2006; Hussey et al., 2012). TP of white sharks OBSV was higher than TP from sharks in BSV. White sharks OBSV are moving between different habitats where they could be feeding on prey with higher TP. Some of the sharks analyzed where big juveniles (~300 cm TL), near the reported size, when a shift in diet occurs and start feeding on bigger prey like marine mammals. The TP estimated with the TEF from sharks was higher than any TP reported for the species, indicating that CSSIA-AA reveals that trophic relationships are more complicated than previously thought (Ishikawa, 2018). These results highlight the importance of using species-specific TDF/TEF for TP estimations and the usefulness of CSSIA-AA for estimating TP without the constraints of traditional methods (Chikaraishi et al., 2009).

Stable isotope analysis provided new information about the trophic ecology of immature white sharks in the Northeastern Pacific and new insights in how their trophic habits are related to habitat shifts through their ontogeny. Our results support the importance of BSV as a nursery and foraging ground for sharks born at BSV and California and the overlap with sympatric shark species suggest that they may be sharing resources. We found that the most important prey for white sharks are heavily targeted by BSV coastal fisheries, increasing their susceptibility to being incidentally caught in the area. However, SIA could not reveal the specific prey that white sharks are feeding in the region, so complementary methods should be used in the future to address this topic. Also, research should focus on comprehending predator-prey relationships between white sharks and their prey to understand how changes in prey abundance due overfishing could influence the early life stages of white sharks.

The results from this thesis show the importance of Vizcaino Bay and the Ojo de Liebre lagoon for the early life stages of white sharks. Vizcaino Bay offers a vast area with depths less than 100 m due to the great extension of its continental platform (DOF, 2000; Hernández-Rivas et al., 2000). Moreover, it has been shown that immature white sharks spend most of their time at depths less than 100 m (Dewar et al., 2004; Weng et al., 2007; 2012; Bruce & Bradford, 2012; Lyons et al., 2013; Curtis et al., 2014; White et al., 2019). Studies suggest that the Bay contains suitable habitat for immature white sharks, where they can spend extended periods (White et al., 2019). This was confirmed with the acoustic telemetry data from this thesis that showed that immature white sharks are present in areas associated with the Ojo de Liebre lagoon during all months of the year.

Also, in this bay, immature white sharks feed on prey that are also targeted by local artisanal fisheries. During the fishing operations, sharks are attracted to the gillnets resulting in incidental mortalities, mainly during summer months in the areas near the Ojo de Liebre lagoon inlet (García-Rodríguez and Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020). These interactions between the white shark and the fishing operations represent one of the biggest challenges for conserving this protected species in Northwestern Mexico because beside the direct interaction, a competition for resources between local fisheries and white sharks occurs. Also, the real effect of this fishing mortality on the Northeastern Pacific population should be estimated. Even if strategies like limiting the use of fishing gears in the areas and times of higher interaction and presence of white sharks in the region could help to decrease fishing mortality, other strategies with lesser effects for artisanal fishers should be explored, like decreasing soaking time to release the sharks alive. However, the effectiveness of this strategies should be evaluated in the future.

Nursery Areas Use

In Australia, juvenile white sharks move between seasonal nurseries, traveling more than 2000 km, and could move to offshore areas (Bruce and Bradford, 2012). In the Northeastern Pacific, immature white sharks also move between nurseries separated by hundreds of kilometers. Sharks tagged during their first year of live in Southern California have showed repeated migrations to BSV during several years, confirming the connectivity between these two nurseries (Weng et al., 2007; 2012; White et al., 2019). Preliminary results from acoustic tagging have shown that sharks from Mexico also go to California waters, but the degree of these movements between nurseries are not fully understood. Immature white sharks prefer coastal shallower waters, but sometimes they might go to offshore areas far from the coast (White

et al., 2019). The diets of immature white sharks from BSV revealed by SIA confirmed the contribution of pelagic and offshore habitat preys. Especially for the juveniles moving between nurseries areas and into areas south from BSV (Weng et al., 2007; 2012; Marquez-Farías & Lara-Mendoza, 2017; White et al., 2019), where they could have access to a wider variety of prey.

To understand the main ecological drivers of the immature white shark movements between nurseries areas along the coast of the Baja California peninsula is essential to evaluate the effect of oceanographic changes in the region. Movements of immature white sharks to northern areas in California seems to be related with events associated with an increase in water temperatures, like El Niño and the Blob (White et al., 2019). This distribution shift affects the way juvenile sharks are using nurseries areas and, in consequence, how they interact with coastal communities. The absence of white sharks from the acoustic array at BSV-OLL during warmer months when these oceanographic events occurred suggests that abundances are lower, changing the susceptibility of being incidentally caught at BSV-OLL. The projected increase in water temperature related to climate change might impact the distribution of immature white sharks as they have been estimated for other species (McMahon & Hays, 2006; Hazen et al., 2012; Lezama et al., 2016; Báez et al., 2019). Future research should focus on describing how the distribution of immature white interannual oceanographic events to develop appropriate policies for reducing the interaction with human activities.

Furthermore, in California, fishing mortality decreased due to the establishment of federal and state fishing regulations, and an overall reduction in commercial fishing, resulting in an increase in the white sharks' population (Lowe et al., 2012). This proposed increase in population sizes, along with greater use of beaches along California, seems to be related to the increase of shark-human interactions (Moxley et al., 2019). The probability of interacting with human communities (including fishing operations at California) might increase during years when the distribution of immature white sharks is shifted to the north. Currently, fishing mortality is higher at BSV than in California's waters (Benson et al., 2018). However, the northward shifting might change this status.

Feeding Ecology

Stable isotope analyses showed that demersal prey predominate diets of immature white sharks, and their importance decreases with the size of the shark. Carbon and nitrogen ratios from smaller white sharks (newborns) suggest the prevalence of maternal influence, which is diluted out by the end of their first year. Pregnant females spend most of the gestation time in offshore waters and then move to coastal
areas in California and the Baja peninsula to give birth (Domeier & Nasby-Lucas 2013; Oñate-González et al., 2015). In juveniles, the increase in the contribution of offshore and pelagic prey could be related with movements between nurseries where they could be feeding on a broader diversity of prey (Weng et al., 2007; 2012; White et al., 2019). However, the lack of significant differences in carbon and nitrogen ratios between areas (inside and outside the BSV-OLL region) suggests they are feeding in similar habitats and prey with similar isotopic composition. The higher contribution of demersal preys in the diet is supported by the results of feeding habit studies that previously reported the diet composition for white sharks with similar sizes (Tricas & McCosker, 1984; Hussey et al., 2012; Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Malpica-Cruz et al., 2013).

Furthermore, the white shark switches its diet to feed on marine mammals at sizes larger than those found inside and outside the BSV-OLL (Estrada et al., 2006; Carlisle et al., 2012; Hussey et al., 2012). The Ojo de Liebre lagoon has been recognized as an important breeding and calving area for the gray whale (*Eschrichtius robustus*) between November and March (Vargas 2006), when white sharks are present inside the lagoon, based on the telemetry results of this thesis. An undefined number of calves might die during the calving season, and fishers reports of white sharks biting dead calves could suggest that smaller white sharks could scavenge opportunistically on them.

Even if isotopic niches are not equal to trophic niches, the former gives us insights to understand the ecological role of predators (Jackson et al. 2011, Hette-Tronquart 2019, Marshall et al. 2019). A high overlap in isotopic niches was found for immature white sharks and hammerhead sharks from similar sizes. This overlap does not necessarily mean that they are competing for resources but feeding on similar foraging grounds and preys with similar isotopic composition. Vizcaino Bay also seems to be an important foraging area for smaller smooth hammerheads and could be used as a nursery area for this species. When different shark species share nursery grounds, resource partitioning could be a strategy to avoid competition (Bethea et al., 2004; Kinney et al., 2011). However, if prey abundance changes in the future, competition for resources with sympatric species could occur, which highlights the importance of monitoring the population trend of prey along with the white shark population and other potential competitors.

The trophic level estimated using CSIA-AA was similar to those estimated for juvenile white sharks in other areas (Cortés, 1999; Estrada et al., 2006; Hussey et al., 2012; 2015). This trophic level indicates that immature white sharks are the top predator in the region, suggesting the importance of this species (like other shark species) in maintaining food webs structure and ecosystem function, and taht their presence

is critical to prevent cascading effects in lower trophic levels (Heithaus et al., 2008; Ferreti et al., 2010; Roff et al., 2016).

Conservation and Management Implications

Although fishing white sharks is forbidden in México (DOF, 2007; 2010; 2014), incidental catches still occur (Galván-Magaña et al., 2010; Ramírez-Amaro et al., 2013; Márquez-Farías & Lara-Mendoza, 2017), mostly in BSV (Santana-Morales et al., 2012; Oñate-González et al., 2017; García-Rodríguez & Sosa-Nishizaki, 2020). Nurseries are critical to ensure the survival of early life stages (Heupel et al., 2007; Knip et al., 2010), which for some species like white sharks could be one of the essential elements for population growth (Mollet & Cailliet, 2002). The vulnerable status of white sharks (Rigby et al., 2019) makes it necessary to understand the effect of these incidental catches of immature sharks on their populations and on the recruitment to adulthood. Since there is also a large shark cage diving tourist industry for white sharks in Mexico, fisheries related mortalities of juveniles could harm this growing non-extractive industry (Laroche et al., 2007; Cisneros-Montemayor et al., 2013; Apps et al., 2018; Becerril-García et al., 2019; Meza-Arce et al., 2020).

Recent estimations of the population size of white sharks worldwide have shown low numbers, which is expected for top predators (Dewar et al., 2013; Burgess et al., 2014; Hillary et al., 2018). For the Northeastern Pacific, population sizes have been estimated to be >3000 individuals and that currently, it is not at risk (Dewar et al., 2013; Burgess et al., 2014). However, uncertainties arise related to the fishing mortality of immature white sharks from BSV, where fishing mortality is higher than in California (Benson et al., 2018). Besides, a recent study noticed the issues related to the uncertainties in life story traits to understand population status for white sharks in the Northwest Atlantic (Bowlby & Gibson). Most of the uncertainties come from the difficulty of obtaining robust estimates of longevity, which seems to been underestimated according to recent studies ((Hamady et al., 2014; Andrews & Kerr, 2015; Natanson & Skomal, 2015; Christiansen et al., 2016). This issue has also been identified for white sharks in the Northeastern Pacific, where longevity is estimated to be >30 years and older than previous estimations (Cailliet et al., 1985; Andre & Kerr, 2015). These uncertainties highlight the importance of having the best biological information available to understand population status and the conservation and management of large sharks (Yokoi et al., 2017).

As discussed in previous chapters, according to the acoustic telemetry, stable isotope analysis, and fishers knowledge, there seems to be a high spatial overlap between artisanal fisheries and immature white

sharks in the areas near the mouth of the Ojo de Liebre lagoon. However, the temporal overlap is smaller, probably due to changes in the fishing effort during the month with a higher number of white sharks present in the area. These results suggest that the probability of being incidentally caught seem to be lesser than previously thought and point to where management and conservation actions should be focused. Currently, the number of immature white sharks incidentally caught in BSV does not seem to pose a threat to the population in the Northeastern Pacific, but future studies should focus on getting better estimations of the survival probability of these early life stages. Even if, at the moment, stiffer regulations that could have a high social impact seems not to be needed, white sharks are still a vulnerable and protected species in Mexico, so actions focused on decreasing fishing mortality should be implemented. The results from this work show that due to the high post-release survival of immature white sharks, actions like releasing white sharks alive in the areas with higher interaction could be implemented to decrease this mortality with the involvement of fishing communities and without changing their fishing activities. As well, these results show the importance of monitoring the movements of white sharks between nursery areas as well as monitoring their prey to understand how trophic relationships and oceanographical changes could affect the distribution of these early life stages and their susceptibility to interact with fishing activities. Finally, the monitoring should be extended to other areas in the Baja California peninsula to evaluate the potential use of other coastal areas as nurseries (i. e. San Quintin or San Ignacio) and to identify other sources of fishing mortality.

- Artisanal fisheries in Vizcaino Bay are multi-specific with bottom-related target species that are critical prey for immature white sharks.
- Incidental catches of immature white sharks occur in areas close to the mouth of the Ojo de Liebre lagoon, so management actions should focus there. Precisely, Las Casitas fishing camp incidental catches records of immature white sharks are the most significant in the region.
- Reducing incidental catches of immature white sharks in the region seems to be difficult given that they are incidentally caught when fishers target high-value species. However, conservation actions could focus on decreasing nets soaking time to allow the release of immature white sharks alive to decrease fishing mortality.
- All life stages of immature white sharks use the region indistinctly of their origin, confirming the connectivity between nursery areas in the Northeastern Pacific.
- The Ojo de Liebre lagoon seems to be essential habitat for white sharks with >175 cm total length, during winter and early spring (indistinctly of their origin), probably related to their prey availability. These results highlight the importance of this habitat for early life stages.
- A higher presence and residence of white sharks were identified during months with lower reports of incidental catches, suggesting a lower interaction with the local artisanal fisheries than previously thought.
- Stable isotope analysis provided new information about the trophic ecology of immature white sharks in the Northeastern Pacific and new insights in how their trophic habits are related to habitat shifts through their ontogeny in their first life stages.
- The most important prey for white sharks (demersal prey) are those that are heavily targeted by local fisheries, which increase their susceptibility to being incidentally caught in the area. The higher importance of pelagic prey for larger sharks suggest movements far from the Ojo de Liebre lagoon to areas outside Vizcaino Bay.

- The overlap in the isotopic niche with sympatric species suggests that these species feed on prey with similar isotopic composition. Also, these results indicate the potential importance of this region as a nursery for other shark species.
- The results from this thesis show the importance of Vizcaino Bay and the Ojo de Liebre lagoon as a suitable region for the early life stages of white sharks. In this region, immature white sharks can spend long periods and provides food resources for their growth. These food resources are also targeted species for local artisanal fisheries producing interaction with the sharks during summer, when smaller sharks more susceptible to die by their interaction with fisheries, are present.
- Future studies should focus on getting better estimations of the survival probability of these early life stages to understand the effect of these incidental catches in the Northeast Pacific population. As well, these results show the importance of monitoring the movements of white sharks between nursery areas as well as monitoring their prey to understand how trophic relationships and oceanographical changes could affect the distribution of these early life stages and their susceptibility to interact with fishing activities.

- Aguirre-Muñoz, A., Buddemeier, R. W., Camacho-Ibar, V., Carriquiry, J. D., Ibarra-Obando, S. E., Massey, B. W., Smith, S. V., & Wulff, F. 2001. Sustainability of coastal resource use in San Quintin, Mexico. Ambio, 30(3), 142–149. https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447-30.3.142
- Allen, C. D., Lemons, G. E., Eguchi, T., LeRoux, R. A., Fahy, C. C., Dutton, P. H., Peckham, S. H., & Seminoff, J. A. 2013. Stable isotope analysis reveals migratory origin of loggerhead turtles in the Southern California Bight. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 472, 275–285. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps10023
- Álvarez, P., Seingier, G., Bocco, G., Espejel, I., & Noriega, J. 2015. Regional Landscape Change in Fishing Communities of the Mexican North Pacific. Landscape Research, 40(7), 855–874. https://doi.org/10.1080/01426397.2015.1031095
- Alvarez-Borrego, S. 2004. Nutrient and phytoplankton dynamics in a coastal lagoon strongly affected by coastal upwelling. Ciencias Marinas, 30(1A), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.7773/cm.v30i1a.2510
- Amador-Buenrostro, A., Argote-Espinosa, M. L., Mancilla-Peraza, M. & Figueroa-Rodríguez, M. 1995. Variaciones de periodo corto de la circulación anticiclónica en Bahía Sebastián Vizcaíno, BC. Ciencias Marinas, 21(2), 201-223.
- Andrews, A. H., & Kerr, L. A. 2015. Validated age estimates for large white sharks of the northeastern Pacific Ocean: altered perceptions of vertebral growth shed light on complicated bomb Δ14C results. Environmental Biology of Fishes, 98(3), 971–978.
- Andrzejaczek, S., Gleiss, A. C., Jordan, L. K. B., Pattiaratchi, C. B., Howey, L. A., Brooks, E. J., & Meekan, M.
 G. 2018. Temperature and the vertical movements of oceanic whitetip sharks, *Carcharhinus longimanus*. Scientific Reports, 8(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-26485-3
- Apps, K., Dimmock, K., & Huveneers, C. 2018. Turning wildlife experiences into conservation action: Can white shark cage-dive tourism influence conservation behavior? Marine Policy, 88, 108–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.11.024
- Arias-del-Razo, A., Heckel, G., Schramm, Y., & Pardo, M. A. 2016. Terrestrial habitat preferences and segregation of four pinniped species on the islands off the western coast of the Baja California Peninsula, Mexico. Marine Mammal Science, 32(4), 1416–1432. https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12339
- Arreguín-Sánchez, F., & Arcos-Huitrón, E. 2007. Fisheries catch statistics for Mexico. In Zeller, D. & Pauly, D. (Eds.), Reconstruction of marine fisheries catches for key countries and regions (1950-2005)
 Fisheries Centre Research Reports 15(2), University of British Columbia (pp. 81–103).
- Báez, J. C., Barbosa, A. M., Pascual, P., Ramos, M. L., & Abascal, F. 2020. Ensemble modeling of the potential distribution of the whale shark in the Atlantic Ocean. Ecology and Evolution, 10(1), 175–184. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5884
- Becerril-García, E. E., Hoyos-Padilla, E. M., Micarelli, P., Galván-Magaña, F., & Sperone, E. 2019. The surface behaviour of white sharks during ecotourism: A baseline for monitoring this threatened species around Guadalupe Island, Mexico. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, 29(5), 773–782. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3057

- Benson, J. F., Jorgensen, S. J., O'Sullivan, J. B., Winkler, C., White, C. F., García-Rodríguez, E., Sosa-Nishizaki, O., & Lowe, C. G. 2018. Juvenile survival, competing risks, and spatial variation in mortality risk of a marine apex predator. Journal of Applied Ecology, 2018, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13158
- Bethea, D. M., Buckel, J. A., & Carlson, J. K. (2004). Foraging ecology of the early life stages of four sympatric shark species. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 268, 245–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.3354/meps268245</u>
- Bizzarro, J.J., Carlisle, A.B., Smith, W.D., Cortes, E., 2017. Diet composition and trophic ecology of Northeast Pacific Ocean sharks. In: Larson, S.E., Lowry, D. (Eds.), Northeast Pacific Shark Biology, Research and Conservation (Part A). Advances in Marine Biology 77, Academic Press, (pp. 111–148).
- Bizzarro, J. J., Smith, W. D., Hueter, R. E., & Villavicencio-Garáyzar, C. J. 2009. Activities and Catch Composition of Artisanal Elasmobranch Fishing Sites on the Eastern Coast of Baja California Sur, Mexico. Bulletin, Southern California Academy of Sciences, 108(3), 137–151. <u>https://doi.org/10.3160/0038-3872-108.3.137</u>
- Block, B. A., Jonsen, I. D., Jorgensen, S. J., Winship, A. J., Shaffer, S. A., Bograd, S. J., Hazen, E. L., Foley, D. G., Breed, G. A., Harrison, A. L., Ganong, J. E., Swithenbank, A., Castleton, M., Dewar, H., Mate, B. R., Shillinger, G. L., Schaefer, K. M., Benson, S. R., Weise, M. J., ... Costa, D. P. 2011. Tracking apex marine predator movements in a dynamic ocean. Nature, 475(7354), 86–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10082
- Boecklen, W. J., Yarnes, C. T., Cook, B. A., & James, A. C. 2011. On the Use of Stable Isotopes in Trophic Ecology. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 42(1), 411–440. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-102209-144726
- Boldrocchi, G., Kiszka, J., Purkis, S., Storai, T., Zinzula, L., & Burkholder, D. 2017. Distribution, ecology, and status of the white shark, *Carcharodon carcharias*, in the Mediterranean Sea. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries, 27(3), 515–534. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-017-9470-5
- Bonfil, R. 1999. Marine protected areas as a shark fisheries management tool. In Seret, B. & Sire, J. Y. (Eds.), Proceedings of the 5th Indo-Pacific Fish Conference, Societe Francaise d' Ichtyologie, (pp. 217–230).
- Bonfil, R., Mendoza-Vargas, O. U., Ricaño-Soriano, M., Palacios-Barreto, P. Y., & Bolaño-Martínez, N. 2017.
 Former Widespread Abundance and Recent Downfall of Sawfishes in Mexico as Evidenced by Historical Photographic and Trophy Records. Fisheries, 42(5), 256–259. https://doi.org/10.1080/03632415.2017.1276339
- Boustany, A. M., Davis, S. F., Pyle, P., Anderson, S. D., Le Boeuf, B. J., & Block, B. A. 2002. Expanded niche for white sharks. Nature, 415(6867), 35–36. https://doi.org/10.1038/415035b
- Bowlby, H. D., & Gibson, A. J. F. 2020. Implications of life history uncertainty when evaluating status in the Northwest Atlantic population of white shark (*Carcharodon carcharias*). Ecology and Evolution, ece3.6252. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6252
- Braccini, M., Rensing, K., Langlois, T., & McAuley, R. 2017. Acoustic monitoring reveals the broad-scale movements of commercially important sharks. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 577, 121–129. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps12251

- Bradford, R., Hobday, A., & Bruce, B. 2012. Identifying Juvenile White Shark Behavior from Electronic Tag Data. In: Domeier, M.L. (Ed.), Global Perspectives on the Biology and Life History of the White Shark. CRC Press, Boca Raton, (pp. 255–270). https://doi.org/10.1201/b11532-21
- Brenner, L., Mayer, M., & Stadler, C. 2016. The economic benefits of whale watching in El Vizcaíno Biosphere Reserve, Mexico. Economía Sociedad y Territorio, 429. https://doi.org/10.22136/est002016637
- Bruce, B. D., & Bradford, R. W. (2012). Habitat Use and Spatial Dynamics of Juvenile White Sharks, *Carcharodon carcharias*, in Eastern Australia. In: Domeier, M.L. (Ed.), Global perspectives on the biology and life history of White Shark. CRC Press, Boca Raton, (pp. 225–254).
- Bruce, B., Harasti, D., Lee, K., Gallen, C., & Bradford, R. 2019. Broad-scale movements of juvenile white sharks *Carcharodon carcharias* in eastern Australia from acoustic and satellite telemetry. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 619, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps12969
- Burgess, G. H., Bruce, B. D., Cailliet, G. M., Goldman, K. J., Grubbs, R. D., Lowe, C. G., MacNeil, M. A., Mollet, H. F., Weng, K. C., & O'Sullivan, J. B. 2014. A re-evaluation of the size of the white shark (*Carcharodon carcharias*) population off California, USA. PLoS ONE, 9(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0098078
- Cagua, E. F., Cochran, J. E. M., Rohner, C. A., Prebble, C. E. M., Sinclair-Taylor, T. H., Pierce, S. J., & Berumen,
 M. L. 2015. Acoustic telemetry reveals cryptic residency of whale sharks. Biology Letters, 11(4),
 20150092–20150092. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2015.0092
- Cailliet, G. M., Natanson, L. J., Welden, B. A., & Ebert, D. A. (1985). Preliminary studies on the age and growth of the white shark, Carcharodon carcharias, using vertebral bands. Memoirs of the Southern California Academy of Sciences, 9(4), 49–60.
- Camacho-Ibar, V. F., Carriquiry, J. D., & Smith, S. V. 2003. Non-conservative P and N fluxes and net ecosystem production in San Quintin Bay, México. Estuaries, 26(5), 1220–1237. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02803626
- Carlisle, A. B., Kim, S. L., Semmens, B. X., Madigan, D. J., Jorgensen, S. J., Perle, C. R., Anderson, S. D., Chapple, T. K., Kanive, P. E., & Block, B. A. 2012. Using stable isotope analysis to understand the migration and trophic ecology of northeastern Pacific white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*). PLoS ONE, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0030492
- Carlisle, A. B., Litvin, S. Y., Hazen, E. L., Madigan, D. J., Goldman, K. J., Lea, R. N., & Block, B. A. 2015. Reconstructing habitat use by juvenile salmon sharks links upwelling to strandings in the California Current. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 525(), 217–228. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11183
- Carlisle, A. B., Goldman, K. J., Litvin, S. Y., Madigan, D. J., Bigman, J. S., Swithenbank, A. M., Kline, T. C., & Block, B. A. (2015). Stable isotope analysis of vertebrae reveals ontogenetic changes in habitat in an endothermic pelagic shark. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 282, 20141446. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.1446
- Carlisle, A. B., Litvin, S. Y., Madigan, D. J., Lyons, K., Bigman, J. S., Ibarra, M., & Bizzarro, J. J. 2017. Interactive effects of urea and lipid content confound stable isotope analysis in elasmobranch fishes. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 74(3), 419–428. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2015-0584

- Carruthers, E. H., & Neis, B. 2011. Bycatch mitigation in context: Using qualitative interview data to improve assessment and mitigation in a data-rich fishery. Biological Conservation, 144(9), 2289–2299. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOCON.2011.06.007
- Cartamil, D., Wegner, N. C., Aalbers, S., Sepulveda, C. A., Baquero, A., & Graham, J. B. 2010. Diel movement patterns and habitat preferences of the common thresher shark (*Alopias vulpinus*) in the Southern California Bight. Marine and Freshwater Research, 61(5), 596–604. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF09153
- Cartamil, D., Santana-Morales, O., Escobedo-Olvera, M., Kacev, D., Castillo-Geniz, L., Graham, J. B., Rubin, R. D., & Sosa-Nishizaki, O. 2011. The artisanal elasmobranch fishery of the Pacific coast of Baja California, Mexico. Fisheries Research, 108(2–3), 393–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2011.01.020
- Castillo-Géniz, J. L., Márquez-Farias, J. F., Rodríguez De La Cruz, M. C., Cortés, E., & Cid Del Prado, A. 1998. The Mexican artisanal shark fishery in the Gulf of Mexico: Towards a regulated fishery. Marine and Freshwater Research, 49(7), 611–620. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF97120
- Castro, J. I. 2011. The Sharks of North America. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Cavole, L. M., Demko, A. M., Diner, R. E., Giddings, A., Koester, I., Pagniello, C. M. L. S., Paulsen, M. L., Ramirez-Valdez, A., Schwenck, S. M., Yen, N. K., Zill, M. E., & Franks, P. J. S. 2016. Biological impacts of the 2013–2015 warm-water anomaly in the northeast Pacific: Winners, Losers, and the Future. Oceanography, 29(2), 273–285. https://doi.org/10.5670/oceanog.2016.32
- Chikaraishi, Y., Ogawa, N. O., Kashiyama, Y., Takano, Y., Suga, H., Tomitani, A., Miyashita, H., Kitazato, H.,
 & Ohkouchi, N. 2009. Determination of aquatic food-web structure based on compound-specific nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids. Limnology and Oceanography: Methods, 7(11), 740–750. https://doi.org/10.4319/lom.2009.7.740
- Chikaraishi, Y., Ogawa, N., & Ohkouchi, N. 2010. Further evaluation of the trophic level estimation based on nitrogen isotopic composition of amino acids. In: Ohkouchi, N., Tayasu, I. & Koba, K. (Eds.). Earth, Life, and Isotopes. Kyoto University Press, Kyoto (pp. 355-366).
- Christiansen, H., Fisk, A., & Hussey, N. E. 2016. Using bomb radiocarbon to estimate age and growth of the white shark, *Carcharodon carcharias*, from the southwestern Indian Ocean. Marine Biology, 163(6), 144. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-016-2916-9
- Cisneros-Montemayor, A. M., Barnes-Mauthe, M., Al-Abdulrazzak, D., Navarro-Holm, E., & Sumaila, U. R. 2013. Global economic value of shark ecotourism: Implications for conservation. Oryx, 47(3), 381–388. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605312001718
- Cisneros-Montemayor, M., Cisneros-Mata, M. A., Harper, S., & Pauly, D. 2013. Extent and implications of IUU catch in Mexico's marine fisheries. Marine Policy, 39, 283–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2012.12.003
- Compagno, L. J. V. 2002. Sharks of the world: an annotated and illustrated catalogue of shark species known to date. FAO Species Catalogue for Fishery Purposes. FAO, Rome. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2006.07.020

- Cortes, E. 1999. Standardized diet compositions and trophic levels of sharks. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 56, 707–717.
- Crossin, G. T., Heupel, M. R., Holbrook, C. M., Hussey, N. E., Lowerre-Barbieri, S. K., Nguyen, V. M., Raby, G. D., & Cooke, S. J. 2017. Acoustic telemetry and fisheries management. Ecological Applications, 27(4), 1031–1049. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1533
- Curtis, T. H., Metzger, G., Fischer, C., Mcbride, B., Mccallister, M., Winn, L. J., Quinlan, J., & Ajemian, M. J. 2018. First insights into the movements of young-of-the-year white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) in the western North Atlantic Ocean. Scientific Reports, March, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-29180-5
- Danemannl, G. D., & De la Cruz-Agüero, J. 1993. Ictiofauna de laguna San Ignacio, Baja California sur, México. Ciencias Marinas, 19(3), 333–341. http://www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=48019305
- De La Cruz-Agüero, J., Arellano-Martínez, M., & Cota–Gómez, V. M. 1996. Lista sistemática de los peces marinos de las lagunas Ojo de Liebre y Guerrero Negro, BCS y BC, México. Ciencias Marinas, 22, 111– 128.
- De La Cruz-Agüero, J., Galván-Magaña, F., Abitia-Cárdenas, L. A., Rodríguez-Romero, J., & Gutiérrez-Sánchez, F. J. 1994. Lista sistematica de los peces marinos de Bahía Magdalena, Baja California Sur (México). Ciencias Marinas, 20(1), 17–31.
- Dewar, H., Eguchi, T., Hyde, J., & Kinzey, D. 2013. Status Review of the Northeastern Pacific Population of White Sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) Under the Endangered Species Act. NMFS-NOAA
- Dewar, H., Domeier, M., & Nasby-Lucas, N. 2004. Insights into Young of the Year White Shark, Carcharodon carcharias, Behavior in the Southern California Bight. Environmental Biology of Fishes, 70(2), 133– 143. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:EBFI.0000029343.54027.6a
- DOF. 2014. Acuerdo por el que se establece veda permanente para la pesca de tiburón blanco (*Carcharodon carcharias*) en aguas de jurisdicción federal de los Estados Unidos Mexicanos. Diario Ofical de La Federación, 1, 14–16. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- DOF. 2007. Norma Oficial Mexicana NOM-029-PESC-2006: Pesca responsable de tiburones y rayas. Especificaciones para su aprovechamiento. Diario Oficial de La Federación, 14, 60–102.
- DOF. 2010. Norma Oficial Mexicana NOM-059-ECOL-2001: Protección ambiental-Especies nativas de México de flora y fauna silvestres-Categorías de riesgo y especificaciones para su inclusión, exclusión o cambio-Lista de especies en riesgo. Diario Oficial de La Federación, 1–77. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.00954
- DOF. 2016. Acuerdo por el que se modifica el aviso por el que se da a conocer el establecimiento de épocas y zonas de veda para la Pesca de diferentes especies de la fauna acuática en aguas de jurisdicción federal de los Estados Unidos Mexicanos. Diario Oficial de La Federación.
- DOF. 2016. Norma Oficial Mexicana NOM-006-SAG/PESC-2016, Para regular el aprovechamiento de todas las especies de langosta en las aguas de jurisdicción federal del Golfo de México y mar Caribe, así Como del Océano Pacífico incluyendo el Golfo de California. Diario Oficial de La Federación.

- DOF. 2000. AVISO por el que se informa al público en general, que la Secretaría de Medio Ambiente, Recursos Naturales y Pesca ha concluido la elaboración del Programa de Manejo del Área Natural Protegida con el carácter de Reserva de la Biosfera El Vizcaíno, ubicada. Diario Oficial de La Federación.
- DOF. 2016. DECRETO por el que se declara Área Natural Protegida, con el carácter de reserva de la biosfera, la región conocida como Islas del Pacífico de la Península de Baja California. Diario Ofical de La Federación.
- Domeier, M. L. 2012. A new life-history hypothesis for white sharks, *Carcharodon carcharias*, in the Northeastern Pacific. In: Domeier, M. (Ed.), Global perspectives on the biology and life history of the white shark. CRC Press, Boca Raton (pp. 199–224).
- Domeier, M. L., & Nasby-Lucas, N. 2008. Migration patterns of white sharks *Carcharodon carcharias* tagged at Guadalupe Island, Mexico, and identification of an eastern Pacific shared offshore foraging area. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 370, 221–237. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07628
- Domeier, M. L., & Nasby-Lucas, N. 2007. Annual re-sightings of photographically identified white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) at an eastern Pacific aggregation site (Guadalupe Island, Mexico). Marine Biology, 150(5), 977–984. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-006-0380-7
- Domeier, M. L., & Nasby-Lucas, N. 2008. Migration patterns of white sharks *Carcharodon carcharias* tagged at Guadalupe Island, Mexico, and identification of an eastern Pacific shared offshore foraging area. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 370, 221–237. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07628
- Domeier, M. L., & Nasby-Lucas, N. 2013. Two-year migration of adult female white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) reveals widely separated nursery areas and conservation concerns. Animal Biotelemetry, 1(1), 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/2050-3385-1-2
- Donaldson, M. R., Hinch, S. G., Suski, C. D., Fisk, A. T., Heupel, M. R., & Cooke, S. J. 2014. Making connections in aquatic ecosystems with acoustic telemetry monitoring. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 12(10), 565–573. https://doi.org/10.1890/130283
- Duffy, C., Francis, M., Manning, M., & Bonfil, R. 2012. Regional Population Connectivity, Oceanic Habitat, and Return Migration Revealed by Satellite Tagging of White Sharks, *Carcharodon carcharias*, at New Zealand Aggregation Sites. In: Domeier, M. (Ed.), Global Perspectives on the Biology and Life History of the White Shark. CRC Press, Boca Raton (pp. 301–318).
- Ebert, D., Fowler, S., & Compagno, L. 2013. Sharks of the world. A fully illustrated guide. Wild Nature Press, Plymouth.
- Espinoza, M., Lédée, E. J. I., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Tobin, A. J., & Heupel, M. R. 2015. Contrasting movements and connectivity of reef-associated sharks using acoustic telemetry: implications for management Contrasting movements and connectivity of reef-associated sharks using acoustic telemetry: implications for management. Ecological Applications, 25(8), 2101–2118. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-2293.1
- Estrada, J. A., Rice, A. N., Natanson, L. J., & Skomal, G. B. 2006. Use of isotopic analysis of vertebrae in reconstructiong ontogenetic feeding ecology in white sharks. Ecology, 87(4), 829–834. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[829:UOIAOV]2.0.CO;2

- Estupiñán-Montaño, C., Galván-Magaña, F., Sánchez-González, A., Elorriaga-Verplancken, F. R., Delgado-Huertas, A., & Páez-Rosas, D. 2019. Dietary ontogeny of the blue shark, *Prionace glauca*, based on the analysis of δ13C and δ15N in vertebrae. Marine Biology, 166(8). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-019-3550-0
- Fernández, J. I., Álvarez-Torres, P., Arreguín-Sánchez, F., López-Lemus, L. G., Ponce, G., Díaz de León, A., Arcos-Huitrón, E., & del Monte-Luna, P. 2011. Coastal fisheries of Mexico. In: Salas, S., Chuenpagdee, R., Charles, A. & Seijo, J.C. (Eds.), Coastal fisheries of Latin America and the Caribbean. FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper. No. 54. FAO, Rome (pp. 231–284).
- Ferretti, F., Worm, B., Britten, G. L., Heithaus, M. R., & Lotze, H. K. 2010. Patterns and ecosystem consequences of shark declines in the ocean. Ecology Letters, 13(8), 1055–1071. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01489.x
- Finlay, J. C., & Kendall, C. 2007. Stable Isotope Tracing of Temporal and Spatial Variability in Organic Matter Sources to Freshwater Ecosystems. In: Michener, R. H. & Lajtha, K. (Eds.), Stable Isotopes in Ecology and Environmental Science. Blackwell Publishing Ltd., Victoria (pp. 283–333). https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470691854.ch10
- Francis, M. P. 1996. Observations on a pregnant white shark with a review of reproductive biology. In: A. P. Klimley & D. G. Ainley (Eds.), Great white sharks: the biology of *Carcharodon carcharias*. Academic Press San Diego. (pp. 157–172).
- Francis, M. P., Duffy, C., & Lyon, W. 2015. Spatial and temporal habitat use by white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) at an aggregation site in southern New Zealand. Marine and Freshwater Research, 66(10), 900–918. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF14186
- Frans, V. F., & Augé, A. A. 2016. Use of local ecological knowledge to investigate endangered baleen whale recovery in the Falkland Islands. Biological Conservation, 202, 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.08.017
- French, G. C. A., Rizzuto, S., Stürup, M., Inger, R., Barker, S., van Wyk, J. H., Towner, A. V., & Hughes, W. O.
 H. 2018. Sex, size and isotopes: cryptic trophic ecology of an apex predator, the white shark *Carcharodon carcharias*. Marine Biology, 165(6), 102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-018-3343-x
- Galván-Magaña, F., Hoyos-Padilla, E. M., Navarro-Serment, C. J., & Márquez-Farías, F. 2010. Records of white shark, *Carcharodon carcharias*, in the Gulf of California, Mexico. Marine Biodiversity Records, 3, e111. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1755267210000977
- García-Rodríguez, E., & Sosa-Nishizaki, O. 2020. Artisanal fishing activities and their documented interactions with juvenile white sharks inside a nursery area. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems, December 2019, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3300
- Guerrero-Ávila, C., González-Romero, S., Gracia-Ruíz, J. J., Ayala-Martínez, J. J., & Alarcón-Farfán, S. 2013. Caracterización de las zonas de mayor captura incidental de juveniles y recién nacidos de tiburón blanco (*Carcharodon archarias*) en la Bahía Sebastián Vizcaíno por la pesca comercial: Implementación de un programa piloto de marcaje y recaptura. Terra Peninsular, Ensenada.
- Gunn, J. S., Stevens, J. D., Davis, T. L. O., & Norman, B. M. 1999. Observations on the short-term movements and behaviour of whale sharks (*Rhincodon typus*) at Ningaloo Reef, Western Australia. Marine Biology, 135(3), 553–559. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002270050656

- Gutierrez de Velasco, G. 2000. Análisis de la Circulación y las Condiciones Físicas de la Laguna Ojo de Liebre, B.C.S. con Relación a la Mortandad de Tortugas Marinas Durante Diciembre de 1997. CICESE.
- Hamady, L. L., Natanson, L. J., Skomal, G. B., & Thorrold, S. R. 2014. Vertebral bomb radiocarbon suggests extreme longevity in white sharks. PLoS ONE, 9(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0084006
- Harasti, D., Lee, K., Bruce, B., Gallen, C., & Bradford, R. 2017. Juvenile white sharks *Carcharodon carcharias* use estuarine environments in south-eastern Australia. Marine Biology, 164(3), 0. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-017-3087-z
- Hashim, M., Ito, S., Numata, S., Hosaka, T., Hossain, M. S., Misbari, S., Yahya, N. N., & Ahmad, S. 2017.
 Using fisher knowledge, mapping population, habitat suitability and risk for the conservation of dugongs in Johor Straits of Malaysia. Marine Policy, 78, 18–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.01.002
- Hazen, E. L., Jorgensen, S., Rykaczewski, R. R., Bograd, S. J., Foley, D. G., Jonsen, I. D., Shaffer, S. A., Dunne, J. P., Costa, D. P., Crowder, L. B., & Block, B. A. 2013. Predicted habitat shifts of Pacific top predators in a changing climate. Nature Climate Change, 3(3), 234–238. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1686
- Heithaus, M. R. 2007. Nursery areas as essential shark habitats: a theoretical perspective. In: C. T. McCandless, N. E. Kohler, & H. L. Pratt, Jr. (Eds.), Shark Nursery Grounds of the Gulf of Mexico and the East Coast Waters of the United States. American Fisheries Society, (pp. 3–13).
- Heithaus, M. R., Frid, A., Wirsing, A. J., & Worm, B. 2008. Predicting ecological consequences of marine top predator declines. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 23(4), 202–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.01.003
- Hernandez, A., & Kempton, W. 2003. Changes in fisheries management in Mexico: Effects of increasing scientific input and public participation. Ocean and Coastal Management, 46, 507–526. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0964-5691(03)00032-2
- Hernández-Rivas, M., Jimenez-Rosenberg, S. P., Funes-Rodríguez, R., & Saldierna-Martinez, R. 2000. El centro de actividad biológica de la bahía de Sebastián Vizcaíno, una primera aproximación. In: D. Lluch-Belda, J. F. Elorduy-Garay, S. Lluch-Cota, & G. Ponce Diaz (Eds.), BAC: Centros de actividad biológica del Pacífico mexicano. Centro de Investigaciones Biológicas del Noroeste, La Paz (pp. 65-85).
- Hette-Tronquart, N. 2019. Isotopic niche is not equal to trophic niche. Ecology Letters, ele.13218. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13218
- Heupel, M. R., & Simpfendorfer, C. A. 2015. Long-term movement patterns of a coral reef predator. Coral Reefs, 34(2), 679–691. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-015-1272-4
- Heupel, M. R., & Simpfendorfer, C. A. 2005. Quantitative analysis of aggregation behavior in juvenile blacktip sharks. Marine Biology, 147(5), 1239–1249. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-005-0004-7
- Heupel, M. R., Kessel, S. T., Matley, J. K., & Simpfendorfer, C. A. 2018. Acoustic telemetry. In: J. C. Carrier, M. R. Heithaus, & C. A. Simpfendorfer (Eds.), Shark research: emerging technologies and applications for the field and laboratory. CRC Press, Boca Raton (pp. 133-156).

- Heupel, M. R., & Simpfendorfer, C. A. 2011. Estuarine nursery areas provide a low-mortality environment for young bull sharks Carcharhinus leucas. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 433, 237–244. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps09191
- Heupel, M. R., Carlson, J. K., & Simpfendorfer, C. A. 2007. Shark nursery areas: concepts, definition, characterization and assumptions. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 337, 287–297.
- Hilborn, R. 2017. Are MPAs effective? ICES Journal of Marine Science, 75(3), 1160–1162. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsx226
- Hillary, R. M., Bravington, M. V., Patterson, T. A., Grewe, P., Bradford, R., Feutry, P., Gunasekera, R., Peddemors, V., Werry, J., Francis, M. P., Duffy, C. A. J., & Bruce, B. D. 2018. Genetic relatedness reveals total population size of white sharks in eastern Australia and New Zealand. Scientific Reports, 8(1), 2661. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20593-w
- Hoen, D. K., Kim, S. L., Hussey, N. E., Wallsgrove, N. J., Drazen, J. C., & Popp, B. N. 2014. Amino acid 15N trophic enrichment factors of four large carnivorous fishes. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 453, 76–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2014.01.006
- Horn, M. H., Allen, L. G., & Lea, R. N. (2006). Biogeography. In: M. H. Horn, L. G. Allen, & D. J. Pondella (Eds.), The Ecology of Marine Fishes. University of California Press, (pp. 3–25). http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1525/j.ctt1pnfcv.3
- Hoyos-Padilla, E. M., Klimley, A. P., Galván-Magaña, F., & Antoniou, A. 2016. Contrasts in the movements and habitat use of juvenile and adult white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) at Guadalupe Island, Mexico. Animal Biotelemetry, 4(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40317-016-0106-7
- Hussey, N. E., MacNeil, M. A., Olin, J. A., McMeans, B. C., Kinney, M. J., Chapman, D. D., & Fisk, A. T. 2012.
 Stable isotopes and elasmobranchs: Tissue types, methods, applications and assumptions. Journal of Fish Biology, 80(5), 1449–1484. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2012.03251.x
- Hussey, N. E., MacNeil, M. A., Siple, M. C., Popp, B. N., Dudley, S. F. J., & Fisk, A. T. 2015. Expanded trophic complexity among large sharks. Food Webs, 4, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fooweb.2015.04.002
- Hussey, N., McCann, H., Cliff, G., Dudley, S., Wintner, S., & Fisk, A. 2012. Size-Based Analysis of Diet and Trophic Position of the White Shark, *Carcharodon carcharias*, in South African Waters. In: M. L.
 Domeier (Ed.), Global Perspectives on the Biology and Life History of the White Shark. CRC Press, Boca Raton (pp. 27–50). https://doi.org/10.1201/b11532-5
- Huveneers, C., Apps, K., Becerril-García, E. E., Bruce, B., Butcher, P. A., Carlisle, A. B., Chapple, T. K., Christiansen, H. M., Cliff, G., Curtis, T. H., Daly-Engel, T. S., Dewar, H., Dicken, M. L., Domeier, M. L., Duffy, C. A. J., Ford, R., Francis, M. P., French, G. C. A., Galván-Magaña, F., ... Werry, J. M. 2018. Future Research Directions on the "Elusive" White Shark. Frontiers in Marine Science, 5, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2018.00455
- Ishikawa, N. F. 2018. Use of compound-specific nitrogen isotope analysis of amino acids in trophic ecology: assumptions, applications, and implications. Ecological Research, 33(5), 825–837. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-018-1616-y

- Jabado, R. W., Ghais, S. M. Al, Hamza, W., & Henderson, A. C. 2015. The shark fishery in the United Arab Emirates: an interview based approach to assess the status of sharks. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwter Ecosystems, 816(July 2014), 800–816. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2477
- Jackson, A. L., Inger, R., Parnell, A. C., & Bearhop, S. 2011. Comparing isotopic niche widths among and within communities: SIBER - Stable Isotope Bayesian Ellipses in R. Journal of Animal Ecology, 80(3), 595–602. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01806.x
- Jorgensen, S. J., Reeb, C. A., Chapple, T. K., Anderson, S., Perle, C., Van Sommeran, S. R., Fritz-Cope, C., Brown, A. C., Klimley, A. P., & Block, B. A. 2010. Philopatry and migration of Pacific white sharks. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 277(1682), 679–688. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2009.1155
- Jorgensen, S., Chapple, T., Hoyos, M., Reeb, C., & Block, B. 2012. Connectivity among White Shark Coastal Aggregation Areas in the Northeastern Pacific. In: M. L. Domeier (Ed.), Global Perspectives on the Biology and Life History of the White Shark. CRC Press, Boca Raton (pp. 159–168). https://doi.org/10.1201/b11532-16
- Kerr, L. A., Andrews, A. H., Cailliet, G. M., Brown, T. A., & Coale, K. H. 2006. Investigations of Δ14C, δ13C, and δ15N in vertebrae of white shark (*Carcharodon carcharias*) from the eastern North Pacific Ocean. Environmental Biology of Fishes, 77(3–4), 337–353. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-006-9125-1
- Kim, S. L., del Rio, C. M., Casper, D., & Koch, P. L. 2012. Isotopic incorporation rates for shark tissues from a long-term captive feeding study. Journal of Experimental Biology, 215(14), 2495–2500. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.070656
- Kim, S. L., & Koch, P. L. 2012. Methods to collect, preserve, and prepare elasmobranch tissues for stable isotope analysis. Environmental Biology of Fishes, 95(1), 53–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-011-9860-9
- Kinney, M. J., Hussey, N. E., Fisk, A. T., Tobin, A. J., & Simpfendorfer, C. A. 2011. Communal or competitive? Stable isotope analysis provides evidence of resource partitioning within a communal shark nursery. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 439, 263–276. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps09327
- Klimley, A. P., Anderson, S. D., Pyle, P., & Henderson, R. P. 1992. Spatiotemporal Patterns of White Shark (*Carcharodon carcharias*) Predation at the South Farallon Islands, California. Copeia, 1992(3), 680– 690. https://doi.org/10.2307/1446143
- Klimley, P. A. (1985). The areal distribution and autoecology of the white shark *Carcharodon carcharias* off the west coast of North America. Memoirs of the Southern California Academy of Sciences, 9(4), 15– 40.
- Knip, D. M., Heupel, M. R., & Simpfendorfer, C. A. 2012. Evaluating marine protected areas for the conservation of tropical coastal sharks. Biological Conservation, 148(1), 200–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2012.01.008
- Laroche, R. K., Kock, A. A., Dill, L. M., & Oosthuizen, W. H. 2007. Effects of provisioning ecotourism activity on the behaviour of white sharks *Carcharodon carcharias*. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 338(Orams 2002), 199–209. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps338199

- Leeney, R. H., & Poncelet, P. 2015. Using fishers' ecological knowledge to assess the status and cultural importance of sawfish in Guinea-Bissau. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwter Ecosystems, 430(November 2013), 411–430. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2419
- Lezama-Ochoa, N., Murua, H., Chust, G., Van Loon, E., Ruiz, J., Hall, M., Chavance, P., Delgado De Molina, A., & Villarino, E. 2016. Present and Future Potential Habitat Distribution of *Carcharhinus falciformis* and Canthidermis maculata By-Catch Species in the Tropical Tuna Purse-Seine Fishery under Climate Change. Frontiers in Marine Science, 3(March), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00034
- Li, Y., Zhang, Y., & Dai, X. 2016. Trophic interactions among pelagic sharks and large predatory teleosts in the northeast central Pacific. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 483, 97–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2016.04.013
- Logan, J. M., & Lutcavage, M. E. 2010. Stable isotope dynamics in elasmobranch fishes. Hydrobiologia, 644(1), 231–244. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-010-0120-3
- López-Rasgado, F. J., & Herzka, S. Z. 2009. Assessment of habitat quality for juvenile California halibut (*Paralichthys californicus*) in a seasonally arid estuary. Fishery Bulletin, 107(3), 343–358.
- Lowe, C. G., Blasius, M. E., Jarvis, E. T., Mason, T. J., Goodmanlowe, G. D., & O'Sullivan, J. B. 2012. Historic fisheries interactions with white sharks in the southern California Bight. In: M. L. Domeier (Ed.), Global Perspectives on the Biology and Life History of the White Shark. CRC Press, Boca Raton, (pp. 169–186).
- Lyons, K., Jarvis, E. T., Jorgensen, S. J., Weng, K., Sullivan, J. O., Winkler, C., & Lowe, C. G. 2013. The degree and result of gillnet fishery interactions with juvenile white sharks in southern California assessed by fishery-independent and -dependent methods. Fisheries Research, 147, 370–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2013.07.009
- MacKeracher, T., Diedrich, A., & Simpfendorfer, C. A. 2018. Sharks, rays and marine protected areas: A critical evaluation of current perspectives. Fish and Fisheries, August, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12337
- Malcolm, H., Bruce, B. D., & Stevens, J. D. 2001. A review of the biology and status of white sharks in Australian waters. Report to Environment Australia, Marine Species Protection Program. September.
- Malpica-Cruz, L., Herzka, S. Z., Sosa-Nishizaki, O., & Escobedo-Olvera, M. A. 2013. Tissue-specific stable isotope ratios of shortfin mako (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) and white (*Carcharodon carcharias*) sharks as indicators of size-based differences in foraging habitat and trophic level. Fisheries Oceanography, 22(6), 429–445. https://doi.org/10.1111/fog.12034
- Malpica-Cruz, L., Herzka, S. Z., Sosa-Nishizaki, O., Lazo, J. P., & Trudel, M. 2012. Tissue-specific isotope trophic discrimination factors and turnover rates in a marine elasmobranch: empirical and modeling results. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 69(May 2016), 551–564. https://doi.org/10.1139/f2011-172
- Mancilla-Peraza, M., Palacios-Hernandez, E., & Lopez-Castillo, G. 1993. Hydrographic variability in Bahia Vizcaino, Baja California, Mexico. Ciencias Marinas, 19(3), 265–284. https://doi.org/10.7773/cm.v19i3.941

- Marquez Farias, F., & Lara Mendoza, R. 2017. Occurrence of a juvenile white shark (*Carcharodon carcharias*) in the southeastern Gulf of California, Mexico. Latin American Journal of Aquatic Research, 45(5), 1059–1063. https://doi.org/10.3856/vol45-issue5-fulltext-21
- Marshall, H. H., Inger, R., Jackson, A. L., McDonald, R. A., Thompson, F. J., & Cant, M. A. 2019. Stable isotopes are quantitative indicators of trophic niche. Ecology Letters, ele.13374. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13374
- Matich, P., Kiszka, J. J., Heithaus, M. R., Le Bourg, B., & Mourier, J. 2019. Inter-individual differences in ontogenetic trophic shifts among three marine predators. Oecologia, 189(3), 621–636. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-019-04357-5
- McAuley, R. B., Bruce, B. D., Keay, I. S., Mountford, S., Pinnell, T., & Whoriskey, F. G. 2017. Broad-scale coastal movements of white sharks off Western Australia described by passive acoustic telemetry data. Marine and Freshwater Research, 68(8), 1518–1531. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF16222
- McMahon, C. R., & Hays, G. C. 2006. Thermal niche, large-scale movements and implications of climate change for a critically endangered marine vertebrate. Global Change Biology, 12(7), 1330–1338. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01174.x
- McMahon, K. W., & McCarthy, M. D. 2016. Embracing variability in amino acid δ15N fractionation: Mechanisms, implications, and applications for trophic ecology. Ecosphere, 7(12), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1511
- McMeans, B. C., Olin, J. A., & Benz, G. W. 2009. Stable-isotope comparisons between embryos and mothers of a placentatrophic shark species. Journal of Fish Biology, 75(10), 2464–2474. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2009.02402.x
- Michener, R. H., & Kaufman, L. 2007. Stable Isotope Ratios as Tracers in Marine Food Webs: An Update. In: R. Michener & K. Lajtha (Eds.), Stable Isotopes in Ecology and Environmental Science. Blackwell Publishing Ltd., Plymouth (pp. 238–282). https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470691854.ch9
- Mollet, H. F., & Cailliet, G. M. 2002. Comparative population demography of elasmobranch using life history tables, Leslie matrixes and stage-based models. Marine and Freshwater Research, 53(2), 503–516. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1071/MF01083
- Moore, J. E., Cox, T. M., Lewison, R. L., Read, A. J., Bjorkland, R., Mcdonald, S. L., Crowder, L. B., Aruna, E., Ayissi, I., Espeut, P., Joynson-hicks, C., Pilcher, N., Poonian, C. N. S., Solarin, B., & Kiszka, J. 2010. An interview-based approach to assess marine mammal and sea turtle captures in artisanal fisheries. Biological Conservation, 143(3), 795–805. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2009.12.023
- Moreno-Báez, M., Orr, B. J., Cudney-Bueno, R., & Shaw, W. W. 2010. Using Fishers' Local Knowledge To Aid Management At Regional Scales: Spatial Distribution of Small-Scale Fisheries in the Northern Gulf of California, Mexico. Bulletin of Marine Science, 86(2), 339–353.
- Moro, S., Jona-Lasinio, G., Block, B., Micheli, F., De Leo, G., Serena, F., Bottaro, M., Scacco, U., & Ferretti, F. 2020. Abundance and distribution of the white shark in the Mediterranean Sea. Fish and Fisheries, 21(2), 338–349. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12432

- Moxley, J. H., Nicholson, T. E., Van Houtan, K. S., & Jorgensen, S. J. 2019. Non-trophic impacts from white sharks complicate population recovery for sea otters. Ecology and Evolution, April. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5209
- Munroe, S. E. M., Meyer, L., & Heithaus, M. 2018. Dietary Biomarkers in Shark Foraging and Movement Ecology. In: J. Carrier, M. Heithaus, & C. Simpfendorfer (Eds.), Shark research: emerging technologies and applications for the field and laboratory. CRC Press, Boca Raton (pp. 1-24).
- Nalesso, E., Hearn, A., Sosa-Nishizaki, O., Steiner, T., Antoniou, A., Reid, A., Bessudo, S., Soler, G., Peter Klimley, A., Lara, F., Ketchum, J. T., & Arauz, R. 2019. Movements of scalloped hammerhead sharks (*Sphyrna lewini*) at Cocos Island, Costa Rica and between oceanic islands in the Eastern Tropical Pacific. PLoS ONE, 14(3), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0213741
- Nasby-Lucas, N., Dewar, H., Sosa-Nishizaki, O., Wilson, C., Hyde, J. R., Vetter, R. D., Wraith, J., Block, B. A., Kinney, M. J., Sippel, T., Holts, D. B., & Kohin, S. 2019. Movements of electronically tagged shortfin mako sharks (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) in the eastern North Pacific Ocean. Animal Biotelemetry, 7(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40317-019-0174-6
- Natanson, L. J., & Skomal, G. B. 2015. Age and growth of the white shark, *Carcharodon carcharias*, in the western North Atlantic Ocean. Marine and Freshwater Research, 66, 387–398. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF14127
- Nielsen, J. M., Popp, B. N., & Winder, M. 2015. Meta-analysis of amino acid stable nitrogen isotope ratios for estimating trophic position in marine organisms. Oecologia, 178(3), 631–642. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-015-3305-7
- Nosal, A. P., Cartamil, D. P., Wegner, N. C., Lam, C. H., & Hastings, P. A. 2019. Movement ecology of youngof-the-year blue sharks *Prionace glauca* and shortfin makos *Isurus oxyrinchus* within a putative binational nursery area. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 623, 99–115. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps13021
- Nuche-Pascual, M. T., Lazo, J. P., Ruiz-Cooley, R. I., & Herzka, S. Z. 2018. Amino acid-specific δ15N trophic enrichment factors in fish fed with formulated diets varying in protein quantity and quality. Ecology and Evolution, 8(18), 9192–9217. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.4295
- O'Connell, T. C. 2017. 'Trophic' and 'source' amino acids in trophic estimation: a likely metabolic explanation. Oecologia, 184(2), 317–326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-017-3881-9
- Ochoa-Díaz, M. R. 2009. Espectro trófico del tiburón martillo *Sphyrna zygaena* (Linnaeus, 1758) en Baja California Sur: aplicación de δ 13C y δ 15N. Tesis de Maestría en Ciencias.Centro Interdisciplinario de Ciencias Marinas. 90 pp.
- Oh, B. Z. L., Thums, M., Babcock, R. C., Meeuwig, J. J., Pillans, R. D., Speed, C., & Meekan, M. G. 2017. Contrasting patterns of residency and space use of coastal sharks within a communal shark nursery. Marine and Freshwater Research, 68(8), 1501–1517. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF16131
- Olin, J. A., Hussey, N. E., Fritts, M., Heupel, M. R., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Poulakis, G. R., & Fisk, A. T. 2011. Maternal meddling in neonatal sharks: Implications for interpreting stable isotopes in young animals. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry, 25(8), 1008–1016. https://doi.org/10.1002/rcm.4946

- Olin, J. A., Shipley, O. N., & McMeans, B. C. 2018. Stable isotope fractionation between maternal and embryo tissues in the Bonnethead shark (*Sphyrna tiburo*). Environmental Biology of Fishes, 101(3), 489–499. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10641-018-0715-5
- Oñate-González, E. 2015. Juvenile white shark (*Carcharodon carcharias*) connectivity and importance of Bahia Sebastian Vizcaino as a nursery area in the North Eastern Pacific. Tesis de Doctorado en Ciencias. Centro de Investigación Científica y de Educación Superior de Ensenada, Baja California. 92 pp.
- Oñate-González, E. C., Sosa-Nishizaki, O., Herzka, S. Z., Lowe, C. G., Lyons, K., Santana-Morales, O., Sepulveda, C., Guerrero-Ávila, C., García-Rodríguez, E., & O'Sullivan, J. B. 2017. Importance of Bahia Sebastian Vizcaino as a nursery area for white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) in the Northeastern Pacific: A fishery dependent analysis. Fisheries Research, 188, 125–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2016.12.014
- Parnell, A. C., Phillips, D. L., Bearhop, S., Semmens, B. X., Ward, E. J., Moore, J. W., Jackson, A. L., Grey, J., Kelly, D. J., & Inger, R. 2013. Bayesian stable isotope mixing models. Environmetrics, 24(6), 387–399. https://doi.org/10.1002/env.2221
- Payne, N. L., Meyer, C. G., Smith, J. A., Houghton, J. D. R., Barnett, A., Holmes, B. J., Nakamura, I., Papastamatiou, Y. P., Royer, M. A., Coffey, D. M., Anderson, J. M., Hutchinson, M. R., Sato, K., & Halsey, L. G. 2018. Combining abundance and performance data reveals how temperature regulates coastal occurrences and activity of a roaming apex predator. Global Change Biology, 24(5), 1884– 1893. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14088
- Peterson, B. J., & Fry, B. 1987. Stable isotopes in ecosystem studies. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics. Vol. 18, 18(1987), 293–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/0198-0254(88)92720-3
- Phillips, D. L., Inger, R., Bearhop, S., Jackson, A. L., Moore, J. W., Parnell, A. C., Semmens, B. X., & Ward, E. J. 2014. Best practices for use of stable isotope mixing models in food-web studies. Canadian Journal of Zoology, 92(10), 823–835. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjz-2014-0127
- Post, D. M. 2002. Using Stable Isotopes to Estimate Trophic Position: Models, Methods, and Assumptions. Ecology, 83(3), 703. https://doi.org/10.2307/3071875
- Pratt Jr, H. L. 1996. Reproduction in the male white shark. In: A. P. Klimley & D. G. Ainley (Eds.), Great White Sharks: The Biology of *Carcharodon Carcharias*. Academic Press, San Diego, (pp. 131–138).
- Ramirez-Amaro, S. R., Cartamil, D., Galvan-Magaña, F., Gonzalez-Barba, G., Graham, J. B., Carrera-Fernandez, M., Escobar-Sanchez, O., Sosa-Nishizaki, O., & Rochin-Alamillo, A. 2013. The artisanal elasmobranch fishery of the Pacific coast of Baja California Sur, Mexico, management implications. Scientia Marina, 77(3), 473–487. https://doi.org/10.3989/scimar.03817.05A
- Rigby, C. L., Barreto, R. R., Carlson, J., Fernando, D., Fordham, S., Francis, M. P., Herman, K., Jabado, R. W., Liu, K. M., Lowe, C. G., Marshall, A., Pacoureau, N., Romanov, E., Sherley, R. B., & Winker, H. 2019. *Carcharodon carcharias*. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2019: E.T3855A2878674. https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2019-3.RLTS.T3855A2878674.en
- Roff, G., Doropoulos, C., Rogers, A., Bozec, Y. M., Krueck, N. C., Aurellado, E., Priest, M., Birrell, C., & Mumby, P. J. 2016. The Ecological Role of Sharks on Coral Reefs. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 31(5), 395–407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2016.02.014

- Rosales-Casián, J. A. 1996. Ictiofauna de la bahía de San Quintín, Baja California, México, y su costa adyacente. Ciencias Marinas, 22(4), 443–458. https://doi.org/10.7773/cm.v22i4.875
- Santana-Morales, O., Sosa-Nishizaki, O., Escobedo-Olvera, M., Onate-Gonzalez, E., O'Sullivan, J., & Cartamil, D. 2012. Incidental catch and ecological observations of juvenile white sharks, Carcharadon carcharias, in Western Baja California, Mexico. Conservation implications. In: M. L. Domeier (Ed.), Global perspectives on the biology and life history of the white shark. CRC Press, Boca Raton, (pp. 187–198).
- Sepulveda, C. A., Kohin, S., Chan, C., Vetter, R., & Graham, J. B. 2004. Movement patterns, depth preferences, and stomach temperatures of free-swimming juvenile mako sharks, *Isurus oxyrinchus*, in the Southern California Bight. Marine Biology, 145(1), 191–199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-004-1356-0
- Silver, J. J., & Campbell, L. M. 2005. Fisher participation in research: Dilemmas with the use of fisher knowledge. Ocean and Coastal Management, 48(9–10), 721–741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2005.06.003
- Simpfendorfer, C. A., Freitas, G. G., Wiley, T. R., & Heupel, M. R. 2005. Distribution and habitat partitioning of immature bull sharks (*Carcharhinus leucas*) in a Southwest Florida estuary. Estuaries, 28(1), 78– 85. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02732755
- Skomal, G. B., Braun, C. D., Chisholm, J. H., & Thorrold, S. R. 2017. Movements of the white shark Carcharodon carcharias in the North Atlantic Ocean. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 580, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps12306
- Smale, M. J. 1991. Occurrence and feeding of three shark species, *Carcharhinus brachyurus, C. Obscurus* and *Sphyrna Zygaena*, on the eastern Cape Coast of South Africa. South African Journal of Marine Science, 11(1), 31–42. https://doi.org/10.2989/025776191784287808
- Sosa-Nishizaki, O., Marquez-Faras, J. F., & Villavicencio-Garayzar, C. J. 2008. Case Study: Pelagic Shark Fisheries along the West Coast of Mexico. In: M. D. Camhi, E. K. Pikitch, & E. Babcock (Eds.), Sharks of the Open Ocean. Blackwell Publishing Ltd., Oxford (pp. 275–282). https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444302516.ch24
- Sosa-Nizhisaki, O., García-Rodíguez, E., Saldaña-Ruíz, L. E., Fajardo-Yamamoto, A., & Rodríguez-Medrano, M. del C. 2015. Conservation of the white shark in the Biosphere Reserve of El Vizcaíno.
- Tamburin, E., Elorriaga, F. R., Colombo, V., Montaño, E., Madigan, D. J., Sánchez, A., Mauricio, G., Padilla, H., Wcisel, M., & Galván, F. 2020. New insights into the trophic ecology of young white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*) in waters off the Baja California Peninsula, Mexico. Marine Biology, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-020-3660-8
- Tanaka, S., Kitamura, T., Mochizuki, T., & Kofuji, K. 2011. Age, growth and genetic status of the white shark (*Carcharodon carcharias*) from Kashima-nada, Japan. Marine and Freshwater Research, 62(6), 548– 556. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF10130
- Tinker, M. T., Hatfield, B. B., Harris, M. D., & Ames, J. A. 2016. Dramatic increase in sea otter mortality from white sharks in California. Marine Mammal Science, 32(1), 309–326. https://doi.org/10.1111/mms.12261

- Tricas, T. C., & McCosker, J. E. 1984. Predatory behavior of the white shark (*Carcharodon carcharias*), with notes on its biology. Proceedings California Academy of Science, 43(14), 221–238.
- Ulate, K., Alcoverro, T., Arthur, R., Aburto-Oropeza, O., Sánchez, C., & Huato-Soberanis, L. 2018. Conventional MPAs are not as effective as community co-managed areas in conserving top-down control in the Gulf of California. Biological Conservation, 228, 100–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOCON.2018.09.033
- Urbán, J. R., Ludwig, S. L. S. S., Urbán R., J., Rojas-Bracho, L., Pérez-Cortés, H., Gómez-Gallardo U, A., Swartz, S. L., Ludwig, S. L. S. S., & Brownell Jr, R. L. 2003. A review of gray whales (*Eschrichtius robustus*) on their wintering grounds in Mexican waters. Journal of Cetacean Research and Management, 5(3), 281–295.
- Vaudo, J. J., Wetherbee, B. M., Wood, A. D., Weng, K., Howey-Jordan, L. A., Harvey, G. M., & Shivji, M. S. 2016. Vertical movements of shortfin mako sharks *Isurus oxyrinchus* in the western North Atlantic Ocean are strongly influenced by temperature. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 547(April), 163–175. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps11646
- Ward-Paige, C. A., & Worm, B. 2017. Global evaluation of shark sanctuaries. Global Environmental Change, 47(July), 174–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2017.09.005
- Wells, R. J. D., TinHan, T. C., Dance, M. A., Drymon, J. M., Falterman, B., Ajemian, M. J., Stunz, G. W., Mohan, J. A., Hoffmayer, E. R., Driggers III, W. B., & McKinney, J. A. 2018. Movement, Behavior and Habitat Use of a Marine Apex Predator, the Scalloped Hammerhead. Frontiers in Marine Science, 5(September), 321. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMARS.2018.00321
- Weng, K. C., O'Sullivan, J. B., Lowe, C. G., Winkler, C. E., Dewar, H., & Block, B. A. 2007. Movements, behavior and habitat preferences of juvenile white sharks *Carcharodon carcharias* in the eastern Pacific. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 338(2002), 211–224.
- Weng, K. C., Sullivan, J. B. O., Lowe, C. G., Winkler, C. E., Blasius, M. E., Locke-Smith, K. A., Sippel, T. J., Ezcurra, J. M., Jorgensen, S. J., & Murray, M. J. 2012. Back to the Wild Release of juvenile white sahrks from the Monterey Bay Aquarium. In: M. L. Domeier (Ed.), Global perspectives on the biology and life history of the white shark. CRC Press, Boca Raton, (pp. 419–446).
- White, C. F., Lyons, K., Jorgensen, S. J., O'Sullivan, J., Winkler, C., Weng, K. C., & Lowe, C. G. 2019. Quantifying habitat selection and variability in habitat suitability for juvenile white sharks. PLoS ONE, 14(5), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0214642
- Wintner, S. P., & Cliff, G. 1999. Age and growth determination of the great white shark *Carcharadon carcharias*, for the east coast of South Africa. Fishery Bulletin, 97(July), 153–169.
- Yokoi, H., Ijima, H., Ohshimo, S., & Yokawa, K. 2017. Impact of biology knowledge on the conservation and management of large pelagic sharks. Scientific Reports, 7(1), 10619. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09427-3

Supplementary material



Figure 21. Use of gillnets in Vizcaino Bay by month and by fishing camp. BT: Bahía Tortugas, CM-ML: Campito-Malarrimo, LC: Las Casitas, LM: Laguna Manuela, SR: Santa Rosaliita.



Figure 22. Use of longlines in Vizcaino Bay by month and by fishing camp. BT: Bahía Tortugas, CM-ML: Campito-Malarrimo, LC: Las Casitas, LM: Laguna Manuela, SR: Santa Rosaliita.



Figure 23. Use of traps in Vizcaino Bay by month and by fishing camp. BT: Bahía Tortugas, CM-ML: Campito-Malarrimo, LC: Las Casitas, LM: Laguna Manuela, SR: Santa Rosaliita.



Figure 24. Target species from artisanal fisheries in the fishing camp of Bahia Tortugas



Figure 25. Target species from artisanal fisheries in the fishing camp of Campito-Malarrimo.



Figure 26. Target species from artisanal fisheries in the fishing camp of Las Casitas.



Figure 27. Target species from artisanal fisheries in the fishing camp of Laguna Manuela.



Figure 28. Target species from artisanal fisheries in the fishing camp of Santa Rosaliita.



Figure 29. Incidental catches of immature white sharks by month and by fishing camp in Vizcaino Bay. BT: Bahía Tortugas, CM-ML: Campito-Malarrimo, LC: Las Casitas, LM: Laguna Manuela, SR: Santa Rosaliita.